#### THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Individual Interests and Moral Integrity:

A Contemporary Debate on Abortion

by

#### Dominique Michelle Fournier

#### A THESIS

## SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS

#### DEPARTMENT OF POLITICAL SCIENCE

CALGARY, ALBERTA

SEPTEMBER, 1993

© Dominique Michelle Fournier 1993



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 des services bibliographiques 395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Bibliothèque nationale

Direction des acquisitions et

du Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of to Canada reproduce, loan. distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive la Bibliothèque permettant à nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse disposition des à la personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

'anada

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-93893-5

Name Jominique Muchelle Fourne

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

General

SUBJECT TERM



#### **Subject Categories**

#### THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

#### COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS

Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	
Journalism	0391
Library Science	
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Theater	0465

#### EDUCATION

General	0515
Administration Adult and Continuing Agricultural Ar Bilingual and Multicultural	0514
Adult and Continuing	0512
Addit and Commonly	0517
Agricultural	0317
Art	02/3
Bilingual and Multicultural	0282
business	0000
Community College Curriculum and Instruction	0275
Curriculum and Instruction	0727
Early Childhood	0510
Early Childhood Elementary	0510
Elementary	0524
Finance	02//
Guidance and Counseling	0519
Health	0680
Guidance and Counseling Health Higher History of	0745
Liston, of	0520
Home Economics	0020
Home Economics	02/8
Industrial	0521
Language and Literature	0279
Mathematics	0280
Mathematics Music Philosophy of Physical	0522
Philosophy of	0000
ph	0622
Physical	0525

# Psychology 0525 Reading 0535 Religious 0527 Sciences 0714 Social Sciences 0533 Social Sciences 0534 Sociology of 0340 Special 0529 Teacher Training 0530 Technology 0710 Tests and Measurements 0288 Vocational 0747

#### LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

Language	
General06	
Ancient	89
Linguistics02	90
Modern02	91
Literature	
General04	01
Classical02	ŏ٨
Comparative02	65
Medieval02	ó7
Modern	óά
African03	íž
American	δĭ
American	71
Asian	50
Canadian (English)	ΣŽ
Canadian (French)	22
English05 Germanic03	93
Germanic03	11
Latin American03	12
Middle Eastern03	
Romance03	13
Slavic and East European 03	14

#### PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND

THEOLOGY	
Philosophy	.0422
Policion	
General Biblical Studies	.0318
Cloray	0321
History of	0320
Clergy History of Philosophy of	.0322
Theology	.0469
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies	.0323
Anthropology Archaeology Cultural Physical Business Administration	
Archaeology	.0324
Cultural	.0326
Physical	.0327
General	0310
Accounting	.0272
Bankina	.0770
Management	.0454
Marketing Canadian Studies	.0338
Economics	.0385
Genera	.0501
General Agricultural Commerce-Business	.0503
Commerce-Business	.0505
Finance	.0508
History Labor	.0509
Labor	0510
Theory Folklore	0358
Geography	.0366
Geography Gerontology	.0351
History	
General	.05/8

Ancient Medieval	0581
Modern Black	0328
African Asia, Australia and Oceania	0331
Canadian	0334
Latin American	0336
Middle Eastern United States	0333
listory of Science	0585
aw Political Science	0398
Political Science General International Law and	0615
Relations Public Administration	0616
Public Administration	0617
Recreation Social Work	0452
Sociology General	0626
Criminology and Penology Demography Ethnic and Racial Studies	0627
Ethnic and Racial Studies	0631
Individual and Family Studies	0628
industrial and Labor	
Relations Public and Social Welfare	0630
Social Structure and Development	0700
Development Theory and Methods	0344
Transportation Urban and Regional Planning Women's Studies	0999
Women's Studies	0453

#### THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

#### BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES Agriculture

General	0473
Agronomy Animal Culture and	0285
Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	0475
Animal Pathology Food Science and	0476
Food Science and	04/0
Tochaology	0250
E another and Mildlife	0337
Technology Forestry and Wildlife Plant Culture	0470
Plant Culture	04/9
Plant Pathology	0480
Plant Physiology	0817
Range Management	0777
Plant Pathology Plant Physiology Range Management Wood Technology	0746
Biology General Anatomy	
General	0306
Anatomy	0287
Anatomy Biostatistics	0308
Botany	00000
Call	0307
Cell	0377
Ecology	0329
Entomology	0353
Genetics	0369
Limnology	0793
Microbiology	0410
Molecular	0307
Neuroscience	0317
Oceanography	0416
Physiology	0433
Radiation	0821
Veterinary Science	0779
	0470
Zoology	0472
Biophysics General	070/
General	0/86
Medical	0760

#### **EARTH SCIENCES**

Biogeochemist	ry
Geochemistry	ry0425 0996

~ . ~ ~

# 

## HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences07	768
Health Sciences	
General	566
Audiology03	iññ
Chemotherapy	202
Destister 05	17
Dentistry05 Education03	250
Hamital Management 07	720
Hospital Management	207
Human Development	28
Immunology09 Medicine and Surgery	'8Z
Medicine and Surgery	064
Mental Health	347
Nursing	569
Nutrition05	570
Obstetrics and Gynecology 03	380
Obstetrics and Gynecology 03 Occupational Health and	
Therapy03 Ophthalmology03	354
Ophthalmology	381
Pathology	571
Pharmacology04	ΪÓ
Pharmacy05	572
Physical Thorapy 03	ເຊິ່ງ
Physical Therapy03 Public Health05	:72
Padialami 06	274
Radiology05	74
Recreation05	1/0

Speech Pathology	0460
Speech Pathology Toxicology	0383
ome Economics	0386

#### **PHYSICAL SCIENCES**

#### Pure Sciences

Chemistry	
General	0485
Agricultural Analytical	0749
Analytical	0486
Biochemistry	0487
Inorganic	0488
Nuclear	0738
Organic	0490
Organic Pharmaceutical	0491
Physical	0494
Polymer	
Radiation	0754
Mathematics	0405
Physics	
General	0605
Acoustics	0986
Astronomy and	
Astrophysics Atmospheric Science	0606
Atmospheric Science	0608
Atomić	0748
Atomic Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy Fluid and Plasma	0798
Fluid and Plasma	0759
Molecular	0609
Nuclear	
Optics	0752
Radiation	0756
Solid State	
Statistics	0463
Applied Sciences	
Applied Mechanics	0346
Applied Sciences Applied Mechanics Computer Science	0084
composer ocience	

Fnaineering	
Engineering General	0537
Aerospace	.0538
Agricultural	0539
Automotive	0.540
Biomedical	0541
Chemical	.0542
Civil Electronics and Electrical	.0543
Electronics and Electrical	.0544
Heat and Thermodynamics	.0348
Hydraulic	.0545
Industrial	.0546
Marine	.0547
Materials Science	.0794
Mechanical	
Metallurgy	.0743
Mining	.0551
Nuclear	.0552
Packaging	.0549
Petroleum	.0/65
Sanitary and Municipal	.0554
System Science	.0/90
Georechnology	.0428
Directions Research	.0796
System Science Geotechnology Operations Research Plastics Technology Textile Technology	.0793
Texine Technology	.0994

#### PSYCHOLOGY

General	0621
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	0622
Developmental	0620
Experimental	
Industrial	0624
Personality	0625
Physiological	0989
Physiological Psychobiology	0349
Psychometrics	0632
Social	

R

#### Nom

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

CODE DE SUJET

Catégories par sujets

#### **HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES**

#### **COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS**

Architecture	.0729
Beaux-arts	
Bibliothéconomie	.0399
Cinéma	.0900
Communication verbale	.0459
Communications	
Danse	
Histoire de l'art	0377
Journalisme	
Musique	0413
Musique Sciences de l'information	0723
Théâtre	.0465

#### ÉDUCATION

LDOCHIION	
Généralités	515
Administration	
	0070
Art	02/3
Collèges communautaires	0275
Commerce	0688
Économie domestique	0278
2 Contonnie donnesnique	0210
Education permanente	.0510
Éducation préscolaire	0518
Education capitairo	0680
Enseignement agricole	0517
Linseignemeni ugi tole	0017
Enseignement bilingue et	
multiculturel	0282
multiculturel Enseignement industriel	0521
Enseignement primaire Enseignement professionnel	0524
Enseignement printing of and	0747
Enseignement professionner	0/4/
Enseignement religieux	052/
Enseignement secondaire	0533
Enseignement spécial	0529
Enseignement supériour	0745
Enseignement supérieur	0745
Évaluation	0288
Finances	0277
Formation des enseignants	0530
Formation des enseignants Histoire de l'éducation	0520
rusione de reducation	0020
Langues et littérature	02/9

### .0535 Lecture . Physique ..... Programmes d'études et 0523

#### LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE Lar

Langues	
Généralités	470
AnciennesQ	289
LinguistiqueQ	290
ModernesC	291
Littérature	
Généralités	101
Anciennes	
Comparée	1245
Mediévale	297
ModerneC	298
AfricaineO	316
Américaine0	591
Anglaise	502
Anglaise	205
Asiatique	200
Canadienne (Anglaise),	322
Canadienne (Française)	3355
Germanique	311
Latino-américaineC	312
Moyen-orientale	
Romane	
Slave et est-européenneC	1314

## PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET

Philosophie	.0422
Religion Généralités	0318
( lerge	11.119
Études bibliques	.0321
Histoire des religions Philosophie de la religion	.0322
Théologie	.0469

#### SCIENCES SOCIALES

SCIENCES SUCIALES	
Anthropologie	
Archéologia 032	4
	7
Anthropologie Archéologie	<u>o</u>
Physique032	7
Droit 039	8
Économie	-
Généralités050	1
Commerce-Affaires	-
Commerce Analies	5
Économie agricole	3
Economie du travail	0
Finances	ã
1 Historices	ă.
Histoire050	?
Théorie051	1
Études américaines	3
Études américaines032 Études çanadiennes	5
Englas Kantalatas	5
Etudes féministes	
Folklore	8
Géographie036	6
Gérontologie 035	ī.
Gérontologie	•
Gestion des difdires	~
Généralités	0
Administration045	4
Banques077	0
Comptabilité027	ň
	5
Marketing033	8
Histoire	
Histoire générale057	8
	-

Ancienne	.0579
Médiévale	
Moderne	0500
Moderne	.0002
Histoire des noirs	
Africaine	.0331
Çanadienne	
États-Unis	0227
	.0337
Européenne	.0335
Moyen-orientale	.0333
Latino-américaine	0336
Asie, Australie et Océanie	.0333
Asie, Australie er Oceunie	.0332
Histoire des sciences	.0285
Loisirs	.0814
Loisirs Planification urbaine et	
régionale	0000
	.0///
Science politique Généralités Administration publique Droit et relations internationales	A / 1 F
Généralités	.0615
Administration publique	.0617
Droit et relations	
internationales	0414
	.0010
Sociologie	
Généralités Aide et bien-àtre social	.0626
Aide et bien-àtre social	0630
Criminologie et	
établissements	
pénitentiaires	.0627
Démographie Études de l'individu et	.0938
Étudos do l'individu ot	
de la famille	0400
	.0020
de la famille Études des relations	
interethniques et	
des relations raciales	0631
Structure et développement	
Structure et développement	0700
social	.0/00
social Théorie et méthodes	.0344
Travail et relations	
industrielles	0629
Transports	0/09
Travail social	.0452

#### SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

## SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES Agriculture

Generalies	
Agronomie. Alimentation et technologie	028
Alimentation et technologie	
alimentaire	035
Culture	047
Élevage et alimentation	
Eveloitation des péturges	
Exploitation des pelurages	
Exploitation des péturages Pathologie animale Pathologie végétale	
Pathologie vegetale	.040
Physiologie vegetale	081
Sylviculture et toune	.04/
Sylviculture et faune Technologie du bois	.074
Biologie	
	030
Anatomie	028
Biologie (Statistiques)	.030
Biologie moléculaire	030
Generatites Anatomie Biologie (Statistiques) Biologie moléculaire Botanique Cellule Frodorie	030
Cellule	่ดังวั
Ecologie Ecologie Entomologie Génétique Limnologie Microsoficio	032
Ectomologie	025
Cánáliano	.035
Generique	.030
Limnologie	.0/9
Micropiologie	.041
Microbiologie Neurologie Océanographie Physiologie	.031
Océanographie	.041
Physiologie	043
Kaalalion	
Science vétérinaire	077
Zoologie	.047
Biophysique	
Généralités	078
Medicale	076

0472

Generalites	047 3
Agronomie. Alimentation et technologie	0285
Alimentation et technologie	
alimentaire	0359
alimentaire	0479
Exploitation des péturages	0777
Pathologia gnimale	0/76
Exploitation des péturages Pathologie animale Pathologie végétale Physiologie végétale	0480
Physiologie végétalo	
Subjective et leuro	0470
Sylviculture et faune Technologie du bois	04/0
rechnologie au pois	0740
iologie	000/
Généralités	0300
Anatomie Biologie (Statistiques) Biologie moléculaire	
Biologie (Statistiques)	0308
Biologie moléculaire	0307
Botonique Cellule Écologie	0309
Çellule	0379
Écologie	0329
Génétique	0369
Génétique Limnologie Microbiologie Neurologie Océane	0793
Microbiologie	0410
Neurologie	0317
Physiologie	0433
Radiation	0821
Radiation Science vétérinaire	0778
Zoologie	0472
iophysique	
	0704
Généralités	07 60
Medicale	07 80

#### **SCIENCES DE LA TERRE**

Biogéochimie	0425
Géochimie	0996
Géodésie	
Géographie physique	

## 

#### SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT

L ENVIRONNEMENT	
Économie domestique	0386
Économie domestique Sciences de l'environnement	0740
Sciences de la santé	
Généralités	0566
Administration des hipitaux	0769
Généralités Administration des hipitaux Alimentation et nutrition	0570
Audiologio	0300
Audiologie Chimiothérapie	0000
	0992
Dentisterie	056/
Développement humain	.0758
Développement humain Enseignement	0350
Immunologie	0982
Loisirs	0575
Médecine du travail et	.03/3
Medecine au travali er	0000
therapie	0354
Médecine et chirurgie	.0564
Obstétrique et avnécologie	.0380
Ophtalmologie	0381
Médecine et chirurgie Médecine et chirurgie Ophtalmologie Orthophonie	0440
Dash ala ala	0400
Pathologie	03/1
Pharmacie	05/2
Pharmacologie	.0419
Physiothérapie Radiologie Santé mentale	.0382
Radiologie	0574
Santé mentale	0347
	0572
Santé publique Soins infirmiers	05/3
Soins infirmiers	0569
Toxicologie	0383
-	

#### **SCIENCES PHYSIQUES**

Sciences Pures
Chimie
Genéralités0485
Biochimie 487
Chimie garicole 0749
Chimie analytique 0486
Chimie agricole0749 Chimie analytique0486 Chimie minérale0488
Chimie nucléaire
Chimie organique
Chimie pharmacoutique 0491
Physicano 0494
Physique0494 PolymÇres0495
Dediction 0754
Radiation0754
Mathématiques0405
Physique
Physique Généralités
Acousiique
Astronomie et
astrophysique
Electronique et électricité 060/
astrophysique
Méléorologie
Optique0752
Optique
nucléairei
Devalue mensione 0749
Physique de l'état solide 0611
Physique moléculaire
Physique nucléaire
Physique de l'état solide
Statistiques0463
Salangas Appliqués Et
Sciences Appliqués Et Technologie
Informatique
Informatique
Ingénierie
Généralités
Agricole 0539

Biomédicale	.0541
Chaleur et ther	
modynamique	0348
Conditionnement	
(Emballage)	0549
Génie gérospatial	0538
(Emballage) Génie aérospatial Génie chimique	0542
Génie civil	0543
Génie électronique et	.0545
Senie electronique el	0544
électrique Génie industriel	0544
Génie mousinei	0540
Génie mécanique	0540
Génie nucléaire	.0552
Ingénierie des systämes	.0/90
Mécanique navale	.054/
Métallurgie Science des matériqux	.0/43
Science des matériaux	.0/94
Technique du pétrole	.0/65
Technique minière	.0551
Techniques sanitaires et	
_ municipales	.0554
Technologie hydraulique	.0545
Mécanique appliquée	.0346
municipales Technologie hydraulique Mécanique appliquée Géotechnologie	.0428
Matières plastiques	
(Technologie)	.0795
Recherche opérationnelle	.0796
Matières plastiques (Technologie) Recherche opérationnelle Textiles et tissus (Technologie)	.0794
PSYCHOLOGIE	
Généralités	.0621
Porconnalitó	0425

Généralités	.0621
Personnalité	.0625
Psychobiologie	.0349
Psychologie clinique	.0622
Psychologie du comportement	
Psýchologie du développement .	.0620
Psychologie expérimentale	.0623
Psychologie industrielle	.0624
Psychologie physiologique	0989
Psýchologie physiologique Psychologie sociale	0451
Psychométrie	0632

## THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Individual Interests and Moral Integrity: A Contemporary Debate on Abortion" submitted by Dominique Michelle Fournier in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts.

Dr. Anthony J. Parel, Supervisor Department of Political Science The University of Calgary

Dr. Rainer Knopff Department of Political Science The University of Calgary

Un. Hugo Meynell

Dr. Hugo Meynell Department of Religious Studies The University of Calgary

September 29, 1993 Date

#### ABSTRACT

This thesis addresses abortion as a moral issue. It contrasts two opposing views of morality. One holds that morality originates from a teleological conception of human nature and is fundamental to human fulfilment. This is contrasted with the view of morality that rejects our teleological nature and attributes morality to individual rights and interests, or to feelings of approbation and disapprobation.

The permissibility of abortion assumes that abortion does not infringe on anyone's rights thereby justifying moral acceptability. The impermissibility of abortion implies that abortion, as the voluntary taking of human life, is destructive of a human good and undermines human fulfilment thereby making it morally unacceptable.

I conclude that the modern conception of morality has destroyed moral integrity by undermining our teleological nature and human goods. The modern approach to abortion addresses it in a manner indicative of and contributive to the decay of the human soul and of modern community.

iii

#### PREFACE

My initial aim in writing on abortion was to be able to make some kind of coherent argument about the inherently destructive aspect of the act. It seemed to me that far too much literature was focused on presenting abortion as a matter of personal choice, therefore outside the realm of objective examination.

I first thought of writing a paper on abortion after having read a book, given to me by my husband, entitled <u>An Enquiry Concerning Human</u> <u>Abortion</u> by Hank Van der Breggen. Although not a profound treatise on the subject, it was the first time that I had seen the issue of abortion set out so coherently and logically. It fuelled me to look into the topic further.

I had been writing on the modern conception of wealth. It was not until well into my writing on abortion that I realized that I had come full circle. My original topic founded its argument on the idea that, in order to present a sound interpretation of wealth and its purpose in human life one must first have a sound understanding of human nature. The foundation for my understanding of the moral character of abortion, and its implications for human beings, also comes from having clarified for myself, and hopefully for the reader, the proper end for human beings.

iv

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Anthony Parel, whose patience and wisdom have been a source of great comfort and inspiration. In large part it has been thanks to Dr. Parel that the writing of this thesis was not only an academic accomplishment but a period of profound personal growth.

I have discovered that doing work of this nature one spends many months irritating friends and family. With this in mind I wish to thank my mother and father for their encouragement and financial support. Particularly I would like to thank my mum who spent many hours on long distance calls listening to me rant about my thesis, as well as about the regular personal crises that arose.

I wish to thank Ian Brodie, who has been one of the most frequent victims of my ramblings during this long project, for his ready ear and constant support. I would also like to thank father Louis Madey who encouraged me to write articles for the <u>Pastoral Reporter</u>, the southern Alberta Diocesan Newsletter. His trust in my ability, and frequent prompting to discuss my ideas provided me with an excellent milieu in which to clarify and solidify my thoughts.

Finally, and most importantly, I wish to thank Marco. His love and devotion have been, and continue to be, an irreplaceable source of inspiration and strength.

ν

#### DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to Nana, a woman of strength and tenacity. And to my maternal grandparents Thelma and Archie McDonald, who have embodied the endurance and the meaning of true human love. Their influence in my life is more far reaching than any of them will ever know. TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

.

.

.

APPROVAL PAGE
ABSTRACT
PREFACE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
DEDICATION
TABLE OF CONTENTS
INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER ONE
MORALITY: RENEWING ITS MEANING
I. HUMAN NATURE AND MORAL ACTION
II. MORALITY AND HUMAN ASSOCIATION
III. ABORTION AND MORALITY
CHAPTER TWO
THE PERMISSIBILITY OF ABORTION: A MORAL ARGUMENT?
I. AN ARGUMENT AS TO WHY ABORTION AND INFANTICIDE ARE
ALWAYS JUSTIFIED
II. RIGHT TO LIFE AND RIGHT TO PROPERTY
III. ABORTION AS A PATH TO MATURITY
IV. REDEFINING MORALITY

vii

CHAPTER THREE

.

THE MORAL IMPERMISSIBILITY OF ABORTION	•	67
I. THE HUMANITY OF THE FOETUS AS A LEGITIMATE CRITERION FOR		
MORAL CONSIDERATION	•	67
II. ABORTION AS AN UNDERMINING OF A BASIC GOOD	•	75
III. MORALITY, ABORTION AND COMMUNITY	•	94
CONCLUSION	•	110
BIBLIOGRAPHY	•	117

#### INTRODUCTION

Most of us have some intuitive realization that human life is a good that in the majority of cases precedes, at least in the temporal realm, all other human goods. In fact life is that good without which all other goods would not be possible.<sup>1</sup> Granted, there are instances where rational individuals are willing to give up their lives out of patriotism, for the love of God and fellow man, or for the sake of justice. Although many men and women have sacrificed their lives for what they perceived to be a greater good, it is usually recognized that the sacrifice made is one of exceptional, and at times even glorious, import.

Today there is a shift in what was once a reverence for life. Some contemporary moral philosophers, physicians and academics have become advocates of what can only be called, in the opinion of this writer, a decline in respect and reverence for life. One only has to look at the way in which some present thinkers address such issues as abortion and euthanasia. Abortion is referred to as merely an issue of personal choice and a right to privacy, and euthanasia is argued to be an issue of death with dignity as well as a right to privacy.

Life is no longer seen as a glorious human good, rather it has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>I</sup>Richard McCormick, <u>How Brave a New World? Dilemmas in Bioethics</u> (Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press, 1981), 168.

become an issue of individual preference. Reverence for life has been replaced with a belief that a person's life, viewed as a matter of personal property, is to be disposed of as each individual pleases. The dignity of human life has become subordinated by the contemporary obsession with political freedom<sup>2</sup>—freedom from external interference in one's quest for that which one desires, the freedom to do as one pleases.

Some have contended that many of the contemporary conclusions about abortion, and more particularly its moral character, have opened the way for the present debate over euthanasia. It is, in part, for this reason I have chosen to address some of the most commonly held judgments on the morality of abortion and their underlying assumptions about human nature and human good.

The issue of abortion has been one which has put various conceptions of morality to the test. One might very well ask why abortion is an issue of morality at all? Is it not simply a matter of individual choice? Why frame a discussion of abortion in terms of morality? In response to this one could argue that any decision about the nature of abortion has implications for what one understands to be the nature of life, human relationships and human good.<sup>3</sup> By the same

<sup>3</sup>Stanley Hauerwas, <u>Vision and Virtue</u> (Notre Dame, Indiana: Fides/Claretian Publishers Inc., 1974), 128.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Freedom carries with it many meanings, the classical notion of freedom that articulates a liberty existing within the self and claims that to be free is to live ruled by reason and not by ones passions. The freedom referred to above is not this freedom rather it is a freedom from, a negative freedom as Isaiah Berlin calls it. "I am normally said to be free to the degree to which a man or body of men interferes with my activity. Political liberty in this sense is simply the area within which a man can act unobstructed by others." Isaiah Berlin, "Two Concepts of Liberty" in <u>Liberalism and its Critics</u> ed. Michael Sandel (New York: New York University Press, 1984), 1-2.

token what one perceives to be the nature of life, human relationships and human good will underlie the conclusion one draws about the rightness or wrongness of abortion.

In articulating a conception of the essence of human life a map will be drawn as to the end of human action and the essence of morality. If one conceives of human beings as naturally free from one another then right and wrong action will be seen as that which does not hinder the freedom of another yet still maintains order. Man's great desire for freedom is always limited by the same freedom held by every other man. There is always a risk, however, that some will not pay heed to the freedom and desires of others. To ensure that at least most people take into account one another there must be rules and conventions that regulate behaviour. The modern notion of rights presumes to set those rules. Morality here is nothing more than a means to fulfilling one's desires. If one desires to have an abortion it is morally right so long as it is not hindering the rights of another person.<sup>4</sup>

On the other hand if one conceives of human beings as naturally connected to one another and as sharing in a common, ultimate and supreme good that characterizes their very humanity then the measure of right and wrong action is its approximation to a common, ultimate and supreme good. Right and wrong cannot be measured according to individual desire nor by the quantifiable utility of the outcome of an act. It is the contention of this thesis that the latter outline of morality is indeed the proper one and with this in mind the moral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>One might assert that abortion infringes on the foetus' right to life.

character of abortion will be assessed.

Michael Tooley, Carol Gilligan, Judith Jarvis Thompson and Christine Overall, maintain that in some cases, if not all abortion is morally permissible. Michael Tooley further claims that if abortion is morally permissible then so is infanticide. His argument rests on the assumption that the morality of abortion relies on whether or not the foetus has a "serious right to life."<sup>5</sup> His position also relies on a conception of morality that is based on the notion that what is moral is what does not infringe on one's rights, which themselves arise from an ability to desire something and be conscious of that desire.

Thompson bases her discussion of the moral acceptability of abortion on the idea that each individual is proprietor of his or her own person and no one has a right to use another's person without his or her permission.<sup>6</sup> Overall shares Thomson's view of proprietorship and also makes a distinction between letting someone die and killing.<sup>7</sup> Gilligan defines the morality of abortion according to each woman's interpretation of her own circumstances.<sup>8</sup> What all these authors share is a conception of morality which does not include a view of an ultimate human good, and as a result particular human goods become as important or unimportant as we each choose to make them.

In contrast to the above, Richard McCormick, John Noonan, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Michael Tooley, <u>Abortion and Infanticide</u> (Oxford, England: Clarendon Press, 1983)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Judith Jarvis Thompson, "A Defense of Abortion," <u>Philosophy and</u> <u>Public Affairs</u> 1 (1971): 47-66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Christine Overall, <u>Ethics and Human Reproduction: A feminist</u> <u>Analysis</u> (Boston: Allen and Unwin Publishers, 1987)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Carol Gilligan, <u>In a Different Voice</u> (Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1982)

Germain Grisez assert that except for very serious circumstances in which there is a conflict between two equally basic goods abortion is morally unacceptable. These authors depart from a conception of morality that is parallel to the one outlined at the outset of this introduction.

The thrust of this thesis is to demonstrate that without a clear and consistent morality, conclusions about right and wrong become arbitrary and random. Why say that abortion is wrong at eight months but right at two? Is it because killing a not-yet-born human being at two months is more palatable than killing one at eight months? If so why? Once the facts about human development are examined it becomes clear that all human life begins at conception. Any cut off point is, therefore, arbitrary. Human life is worthy of respect, dignity, and moral consideration at all its stages. The goodness of human life cannot be determined by means of instrumental calculation as to its net worth. If moral action is to be dictated according to our desires and interests and our laws are reflective of this, then we must prepare ourselves for the possibility of laws endorsing that the mentally impaired may not be worthy of moral consideration, nor the elderly, nor the sick. When human life, at any stage, is viewed in terms of its calculable interests and a morality mirrors this, then every human life is diminished and human dignity is neglected. As George Grant cautions "those who see life simply as a product of necessity and chance are inevitably more open to feticide, because they do not see the destiny

of meaning to which human beings are called."<sup>9</sup> When laws in a given society are indicative of an instrumental view of human life and human relationships, then the society is sick and is cultivating this same sickness in the souls of its citizens.

Finally, in concluding that abortion is an immoral act in most instances, and that there are dangers in perceiving of abortion as an act free of responsibility I am proposing that there exists a static dimension to human beings. This static aspect of human beings requires us to avoid certain actions that are wrong for each one of us as individuals, as well as being wrong for the community to which we belong.

I have chosen to restrict my analysis to seven authors. First, I have done this for practical reasons because abortion is probably the most written about subject in the social and medical sciences. Second, after reading and scanning much of the material I realized that the same arguments were being repeated and re-articulated. These arguments I believe were best represented by the authors studied here. And finally they present a telling example of how the abortion debate is dichotomized by two very distinct philosophical anthropologies, or theories of human nature.

<sup>9</sup>George Grant, "The Triumph of the Will," in <u>A Time to Choose life:</u> <u>Women, Abortion and Human Rights</u> ed. Ian Gentles (Toronto, Ontario: Stoddart Publishing, 1991), 9-19.

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### MORALITY: RENEWING ITS MEANING

Because the purpose of this thesis is to draw out some of the implications of the more commonly held beliefs about the moral character of abortion our first task will be to examine differing notions of the nature and end of morality. In other words we will begin by deciphering what is meant by a morally acceptable act and what is meant by a morally unacceptable act, as well as why it is relevant to speak of morally right and morally wrong with regards to human action.

#### I. HUMAN NATURE AND MORAL ACTION

Any assertion about morality expresses assumptions about what is good and what is bad, what is right and what is wrong, for human beings. Hence every interpretation of the nature and end of morality comes from a particular conception of what constitutes the good for human beings, or what is man's nature. Leslie Stevenson states "different views about human nature lead naturally to different conclusions about what we ought to do and how we ought to do it."<sup>10</sup> This is not to say that all interpretations of the nature of morality are equally valid. Although some interpretations of morality can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Leslie Stevenson, <u>Seven Theories of Human Nature</u> (New York: Oxford University Press, 1974), 3.

rhetorically compelling they may be based on premises about the good for human beings that, at best, are problematic.

In trying to uncover the end or purpose of morality the following must be answered: What is it about human beings that makes it reasonable to judge their actions as right or wrong? When an animal kills one of its own there is never a question as to whether it has committed an immoral act, but when a human being kills another human being this question is of great importance.

There are three human characteristics which are relevant to our inquiry: one is the human soul; another is human reason or rationality; and the third is human passion or desire. All thinkers from classical to contemporary understand human passion to be an influence in human action. Plato, Aristotle, and St.Thomas, for example, proposed that human passion is meant to be harnessed by human reason and made slave to reason. Though they recognized that passions have a powerful influence in human action they believed that man's happiness is dependant on his ability to control and guide his passions through reason. In contrast Thomas Hobbes and David Hume, for example, have argued that all human action ultimately is motivated by passion. They believed that human beings are pleasure seeking creatures and therefore their happiness is fulfilled only when their desires are fulfilled.

That human beings have a faculty called reason is agreed upon by all reasonable people. The purpose and end of reason, on the other hand, is contentious. St.Thomas Aquinas believed that reason has three purposes: to pursue God; to pursue knowledge for the sake of knowing, or contemplation; and to be the "rule and measure" of our conduct in

our practical lives.<sup>11</sup> Reason as contemplation helps us to apprehend what is best for our fulfillment, what is good for us as humans. But knowing what is good and best for ourselves does not translate into acting according to that knowledge. In the words of Yves Simon "I may know all there is to know about morality in theory but still remain totally undependable in my actual conduct."<sup>12</sup> Hence one must also possess reason as the rule and measure of human acts which guides us toward what is good. Because the focus of this inquiry is moral action we shall restrict this portion of the discussion to reason as a guide or measure of our conduct.

Unlike other beasts human beings are equipped with the ability to move beyond their instincts and sensual desires. Some have claimed that human beings are meant to be masters of their instincts and passions in order to fulfil their true human potential.<sup>13</sup> When speaking of the fulfilment of human potential what is meant is "to actualize, and in a way to bring to the proper fullness, that structure in man which is characteristic for him because of his personality and also because of his being somebody and not merely something."<sup>14</sup> Yves Simon also reminds us that "in order to be fully human, the mode of fulfillment of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>St.Thomas Aquinas, <u>On Law, Morality and Politics</u> ed. William Baumgarth and Richard Regan (Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company, 1988), 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Yves R. Simon, <u>The Definition of Moral Virtue</u> ed. Vukan Kuic (New York: Fordham University Press, 1986), 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Aristotle <u>The Nicomachean Ethics</u> trans. and intro. David Ross (New York: Oxford University Press, 1988), bk.5 ch.13; St.Thomas Aquinas, <u>Commentary on The Nicomachean Ethics</u> trans. C.I. Litzinger (Chicago: Henry Regnery Company, 1964) lec.10 parag.241; Simon, 29-34 passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Karol Wojtyla, <u>The Acting Person</u> (Dordrecht: D. Reidel Publishing Company, 1979), 151.

our tasks must be rational."15

St.Thomas' notion of human reason and its role in human conduct is based on the belief that human fulfillment and human happiness are not possible by merely satisfying sensual desires.<sup>1b</sup> Both animals and human beings share in the pleasure experienced in the fulfillment of bodily needs and desires, but only human beings can make rational sense out of these needs and desires and place them in a greater context, a context beyond themselves. This implies that complete happiness cannot be achieved at the level of sensation. One only need look at the human tendency never to be satisfied with what one has. The more we have the more we tend to want. So either human life is a constant search to achieve a fulfillment and happiness that is never possible or human fulfillment is more than simply seeking out bodily pleasures. If human happiness were simply a question of appeasing passions and satisfying desires, then human beings would have no need for the faculty of reason. We would only need follow our instincts. But because human beings are creatures who possess needs that exceed the realm of the sensual they also possess faculties that can enable them to reach their fulfilment. These non sensual needs exist in so far as human beings have what Aristotle, Aquinas and many philosophers before and after them refer to as a soul.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Simon, p.34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>"The Soul is better than the body—which needs the soul to live and to possess these goods. Therefore the good of the soul, such as understanding and the like is better than a good of the body. Therefore the good of the body is not man's highest good.

Furthermore these goods are common to man and to other animals. But happiness is a good proper to man alone. Man's happiness therefore does not consist in the things mentioned above." St.Thomas Aquinas, <u>On</u> <u>Politics and Ethics</u> trans. and ed. Paul E. Sigmund (New York: W.W. Norton and Company, Inc., 1988), 7.

The notion that human beings are creatures with both body and soul is what fuels St.Thomas' understanding of reason. It is because of our composite nature that short term bodily pleasures, although temporarily satisfying, are never enough to give us any long term satisfaction. Acting on instinct can sometimes satisfy immediate desires for euphoric happiness and pleasure, but that happiness quickly fades and must be replaced by yet another means of pleasure. True human fulfillment and a lasting happiness require that we look to more long term satisfactions, which ultimately reside in a belief and quest for Truth.<sup>17</sup> This sometimes requires us to ignore our instincts and passionate yearnings, it requires us to be "masters of our passions."<sup>18</sup>

Let us now turn to human action. Here I would like briefly to make a distinction between what is known as a human act or *actus humanus* and an act of man or *actus hominis*. A human act is "a free act proceeding from the will in view of an end apprehended by reason."<sup>19</sup> A

<sup>19</sup>St.Thomas Aquinas, <u>Summa Theologiae</u> Ia, IIae, 1,3.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>"The ultimate end of the whole man and of all his actions and all his desires is to know the first truth; namely, God." St.Thomas, <u>On</u> <u>Politics and Ethics</u>, 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Socrates tells us that those who work simply to fulfil their passions are not masters of their lives but are slaves. "Slaves are they to luxury and lechery, intemperance and the wine-cup along with many a fond and ruinous ambition. These passions so cruelly belord it over the poor soul whom they have got under their thrall, that so long as he is in the heyday of health and strong to labour, they compel him to fetch and carry and lay at their feet the fruit of his toils, and to spend it on their own heart's lust; but as soon as he is seen to be incapable of further labour through old age, they leave him to his grey hairs and misery, and turn to seize other victims...Against these must we wage ceaseless war, for very freedom's sake, no less than if they were armed warriors endeavouring to make us their slaves...These despotic queens never cease to plague and torment their victims in body and soul and substance till their sway is ended." Xenophon, <u>The Works of Xenophon</u> trans. H.G. Dakyns (London: Macmillan and Co., Limited, 1897), 204.

human act is a willed act, an act which is freely chosen without external force prompting it. According to St.Thomas moral acts and human acts are the same. On the other hand acts of man refer to acts that are simply the movement of limbs, for example walking, dressing oneself etc. An act of man also refers to an involuntary or reflex act which "is not a human act...for though it is the act of a human being, in the sense that it is performed by a human being, it does not proceed from him considered precisely as a rational free being."<sup>20</sup> To examine the scope of moral action our focus must be on actions that are directed by the will to an end apprehended by reason.

It has been maintained by certain philosophers that all human action, like "every art and every inquiry," is directed toward some good end or toward an end that is perceived "or thought to be good...known or thought to perfect in some way the subject who desires and chooses."<sup>21</sup> No sane human being acts with the hope of achieving something bad for himself or herself. Hence all rational beings act with a good end in mind. A particular good or the good of an immediate end of any human action is judged in light of its approximation to, or harmony with, the supreme good for man. Particular goods would themselves have little meaning if there did not exist a supreme good for man, "since all particular ends or goods are desired and sought after as means to the attainment of the ultimate or final end."<sup>22</sup> An act is not only judged to be good in so far as it results in or is

<sup>20</sup>F.C. Copleston, <u>Aquinas: An Introduction to the Life and Work of</u> <u>the Great Medieval Thinker</u> (London: Penguin Books, 1988), 201.

<sup>21</sup>Aristotle, bk. 1, ch. 1.

<sup>22</sup>Copleston, 202.

aimed at a good. The act itself must also be good, in its resemblance of or approximation to the Good.

Human beings are human in so far as they are creatures who need not be slaves to their instinct and passions. Their actions can be judged right or wrong, good or evil, because human beings are capable of reasoning and making choices about whether or not to act one way or another. With the above in mind what might one conclude about the end and purpose of moral action? A moral act has been defined as "a free act proceeding from the will in view of an end apprehended by reason." It has also been stated that the end of an action is sought as a means for the achievement of one's happiness and ultimate fulfillment. Thus the ultimate end and purpose of moral action may be understood as selffulfillment or self-transformation. Self-transformation meaning that we are able to transcend or transform our natural tendency to act out of passion. This does not mean that it is unnatural to act out of reason, it simply suggests that unlike other animals we possess reason as part of our nature and reason frees us from being slaves to our passions. And the end of moral action is the fulfilment of one's composite or complete human nature.

Unlike the happiness of other creatures human happiness is not satisfied by the fulfillment of short term bodily pleasures and temporal goods. Rather human happiness demands on the fulfillment of long term goods. This does not preclude the fact that we do experience strong temptations to fulfil bodily pleasures, even at the expense of

our long term happiness.<sup>23</sup> But because humans are capable of reasoned behaviour they need not act on reflex or instinct. As a reasoning being man can transform himself and learn to overcome his temptations to indulge in short term pleasures. In other words man is not only capable of but is called to self-transformation. This self-transformation or self-fulfilment requires more than merely knowing what is good and best it also requires a will to act in light of the Good. And a will to act in light of the good can only arise from a habituation toward the good through regular right action in light of what is good and best. Though "instinct and custom may make us both behave and be happy," as Simon tells us, it is "only if we know what we are doing and why that we become fully human."<sup>24</sup> Consequently morally right action is willed with a good end in mind, a good that is apprehended by reason, and which is judged good in so far as it promotes one's human fulfillment or human transformation.

The above is an outline of what has traditionally been referred to as a teleological view of human nature. The following will outline what may be referred to as a mechanistic understanding of human nature. This view rejects the notion of an ultimate Good for human beings. Human ends, rather, are found in the tangible reality that can be perceived through the senses. Thomas Hobbes regarded human beings as

<sup>24</sup>Simon, 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Take adultery for example. The temptation to indulge in the immediate pleasures of intimacy with someone to whom one is very attracted can be great. And though one may be aware that to indulge in such pleasures could hurt a number of people including oneself in the long run, one might chose to overlook the long term outcome for the sake of a few moments of pleasure.

bodies in motion.<sup>25</sup> He argued that human action is concerned with "voluntary motion" which is caused by "the motion of external things."<sup>26</sup> He believed that human beings are driven to respond to external stimuli which are internally interpreted by one of two kinds of human passions-appetites or aversions. Appetite is understood to be a motion "toward something which causes,"27 and aversion is explained to be a motion "fromward something."<sup>28</sup> Therefore it is human passion that determines human action. Human beings so understood are rational choosers, in so far as human reason serves to interpret for the chooser what means best serve his passions and best deflects that to which he is averse. He argued that the best that human reason could accomplish is to direct the passions toward the most expedient means of satisfying appetites and avoiding aversions. Thoughts for Hobbes "are to the desires, as scouts, and spies, to range abroad, and find the way to the things desired."<sup>29</sup> Human reason is a sophisticated calculator that registers its surroundings and experiences, then recalls them in order to determine the most efficient means of satisfying one's passions. Human beings here are not unlike other species except human beings have the added advantage of this calculator called rationality.

All human action is determined by either one's appetites or one's aversions. As a result good and bad, right and wrong, are determined by

<sup>26</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 47. <sup>27</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>28</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>29</sup>Ibid., 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Thomas Hobbes, <u>Leviathan</u> ed. M. Oakeshott, intro. R.S. Peters (New York: Macmillan Publishing Company, 1962), 22.

whether or not something is pleasant or unpleasant. Hobbes states that "whatsoever is the object of any man's appetites or desire, that is it which he for his part calleth *good*: and the object of his hate and aversion, *evil*."<sup>30</sup> The greatest of human appetites is the appetite for power<sup>31</sup> and the greatest of human aversions is fear of violent death.<sup>32</sup> And each of these are the measure of all other appetites and aversions. Power is for Hobbes the greatest appetite because it is "the means to obtain future apparent good,"<sup>33</sup> while simultaneously being a means to help ward off a violent death. Because human beings are driven by their desires and are preoccupied with their self-preservation they are most happy when they are "free"<sup>34</sup> to pursue said desires and protect themselves with as little external hindrance as possible.

What would self-fulfilment be in a Hobbesian world? Fulfillment was previously referred to as the actualizing of human potentialities which, it was argued, occurs through proper action in light of man's ultimate and supreme end. If man has no ultimate end and his actions are motivated simply by his appetites then fulfillment must take on a very different meaning. Self-fulfillment and the achievement of one's happiness would be based on one's ability or freedom "to assure forever the way of [one's] future desire."<sup>35</sup> To fulfil oneself would not be to transform oneself internally, for that here is irrelevant, it would be

<sup>30</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 48.
 <sup>31</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 80.
 <sup>32</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 100.
 <sup>33</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 72.
 <sup>34</sup>free from impediments—negative freedom
 <sup>35</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 80.

to transform one's surroundings. Self-fulfilment in this context is a question of accumulation as opposed to transformation. To fulfil oneself as a pleasure seeking creature consists in the accumulation of objects of desire and the possession of the power to ensure that one has the freedom to move within and toward all future desires. Whatever transformation that is sought is external; from poor to rich, from old to young, from fat to thin, from average to extraordinary.

Can actions be judged right or wrong if all action is precipitated by appetites and aversions? If right and wrong refer to doing what is best for man's *summum bonum* then the answer would have to be no. Only actions which are the result of free acts of will in view of an end apprehended by reason can be judged right or wrong. If an act is directed by the passions rather than reason, then there is no choice in the act itself. There may be a choice in the manner to accomplish the act, a calculation in the gains and losses,<sup>36</sup> but the act itself is driven by passion, reflex or instinct. And Aristotle tells us "we are not called good or bad on the ground of our passions, but we are so called on the ground of our virtues and vices."<sup>37</sup> As a result the Hobbesian world of "rational choosers" is either a world without morality or a world where morality is redefined or substituted.<sup>38</sup>

For Hobbes and many philosophers after him the notion that moral

<sup>38</sup>Simon, 1-16 passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Human beings are rational, for the Hobbes, in so far as they may calculate the advantages and disadvantages of their choices. They are rational choosers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Virtue is understood as "a state of character concerned with choice, lying in a mean, i.e the mean relative to us, this being determined by a rational principle, and by that principle by which man of practical wisdom would determine it." Aristotle, bk.2 ch.6.

action is attached to a greater or supreme good is rejected. Morality is simply rules or conventions which arise out of a need to ensure a modicum of order within communities. Good is considered in terms of each individual's interest. For Hobbes that interest is the neverending search to satisfy present and future desires. If all human beings are equally concerned with passions, and particularly the passion of self-preservation, then each man is equally concerned about the possibility of losing the object of his desires to another. For Hobbes it is the fear that others may wish to acquire that which is already one's own and may even kill one to do so, that prompts men to enter into a social agreement. Others such as Hume, Shaftesbury and Locke, thought in terms of a similar egoism, but it was more of an enlightened egoism, according to which human beings are not simply interested in themselves but also in those who are closely associated with them, for example their family and close friends. In Shaftesbury's case this affection would eventually extend to communities and larger societies, nevertheless any action that a human being partakes in starts with self-interest. For Hume the fact that one might be willing to take another into consideration is only possible in so far as he or she is able to be sympathetic to their experience. Stated differently the fact that one may not harm another or steal from another arises from one's own experience of not wanting such actions to be reciprocated. The way to ensure that most people respect the desires and life of others is to put forward certain rules that everyone must agree to follow. And, it is only once human beings are living in social settings, having escaped the state of nature or the state of war of all

against all,<sup>39</sup> that morality becomes relevant, morality being those rules and conventions which we all agree to adhere to for the sake of a peaceful setting for ourselves, that is for our own interest. Morality, or here moral norms and conventions, exists as a means to protect our interests within a social setting. Morality is a question of external regulations which help to restrict people's tendency toward taking what they wish and doing what they will.

Morality has been explained, on the one hand, as a state of character which prompts us to act for, and in light of, what is best for our ultimate human fulfilment. On the other hand, morality is argued to be agreed-upon rules and conventions which restrict our natural tendency to acquire what we desire and eliminate what we dislike. We will now consider the emotive theory of morality. "Emotivism is the doctrine that all evaluative judgements and more specifically all moral judgements are nothing but expressions of preference, expressions of attitude or feeling, insofar as they are moral or evaluative in character."<sup>40</sup> Some have argued that the emotive interpretation of morality has its origin primarily in Hume.<sup>41</sup>

For Hume moral judgement emerges from a feeling, a "reflection

<sup>40</sup>Alasdair MacIntyre, <u>After Virtue</u> (Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press, 1984), 11-12.

<sup>41</sup>"In the eighteenth century Hume embodied emotivist elements in the large and complex fabric of his moral theory; but it is only in this century that emotivism has flourished as a theory on its own." <u>Ibid.</u>, 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>For thinkers such as Hobbes, Locke and Hume, Shaftesbury and other Enlightenment thinkers, human beings emerge out of a state of nature and enter into "civil society." In the state of nature good and bad are judged according to natural desires and aversions. Once in civil society good and bad are judged still in terms of desires and aversions with the added responsibilities toward the desires and aversions of others.

into your own breast."42 One can only discover the good or bad in an act once one has looked into one's own sentiments about the act. Hume like Hobbes believed that reason does not move one to action; only the passions can accomplish this.<sup>43</sup> He tells us that "nothing can be more real, or concern us more, than our own sentiments of pleasure and uneasiness."44 The contemporary emotivist sees moral judgement as originating in one's feelings. There is no objective criterion for moral action. Moral action arises out of the feelings of the individual actor. Moral action is relative to the actor's personal experience and feelings. Moral action is self-centred and self-interested. It might be contended that emotivism not only takes into account the actor's feelings but also the feelings of his neighbour. As Hume states "the minds of all men are similar in their feelings and operations, nor can any one be actuated by any affection, of which all others are not, in some degree, susceptible."45 For example, all people have a desire not to have their lives unwillingly taken, therefore all human beings understand it as a desire that must be protected. If we all share similar desires we can all realize that certain actions are harmful to others and we should not engage in them. In the event that there are those who are indifferent to the feelings and desires of others we may set up rules to protect certain universal desires and feelings. However, because morality is not only a matter of those rules which are

<sup>43</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 509.
<sup>44</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 521.
<sup>45</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 626.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>David Hume, <u>A Treatise of Human Nature</u> (london: Penguin Classics, 1984), 520.

set up to regulate responsibility for public feelings, but also an issue of each individual's personal feelings about right and wrong, there is a distinction between what is sometimes referred to as one's private morality and a more general or public morality.

For the emotivist there are two kinds of morality, that which addresses one's personal life and that which addresses the public realm. But if my personal feelings about harming another human being, who I feel is deserving of harm, conflicts with a more general public feeling that one should not unduly harm others why would I, or should I, refrain from harming them. Is it because there are good reasons for doing so? Is it because there exists some sort of implicit obligation to do so? Or is it not, ultimately, because it makes me feel good to do so? To admit that there are good rational reasons for acting in light of another's good as well as my own, assumes that there exists some objective measure for acting. But for the emotivist there is no objective measure to which to appeal because feelings are always subjective.

Here arises the problem of manipulation which MacIntyre refers to in his book <u>After Virtue</u>. He warns that contemporary moral conflicts are always interminable because "evaluative argument is and always must be rationally interminable."<sup>46</sup> This is true because all discourse is an expression of feelings. If there is no rational origin for moral beliefs then the only means of resolving conflicts of a moral nature is by manipulation. The emotivist believes that there is some impersonal criterion which allows him to resolve the moral conflict. However, as

21

<sup>46</sup>MacIntyre, 11.

MacIntyre cautions, within the context of an emotivist notion of morality "the sole reality of distinctively moral discourse is the attempt of one will to align the attitudes, feelings, preferences and choices of another with its own." Human beings are transformed from subjects to objects and "others are always a means never an end."<sup>47</sup> I must convince my opponent that what I feel is more appropriate than what she feels but by means of manipulation not by reasoned discourse. In so far as one is being manipulated one is being used as a means to another's end.

Similar to the previous concepts of human nature emotivism has its conception of self-fulfilment. For the emotivist self-fulfillment resides in what one feels is best for oneself. Charles Taylor uses the term narcissistic to describe a conception of self-fulfilment which arises from a belief that the good for man exists only in each individual's interpretation of it. The emotivist approach to selffulfilment would approach the Hobbesian notion of self-fulfilment except that the emotivist would take it one step further. That is to say for the emotivist self-fulfilment can have no rational foundation. Reason cannot find answers to, or find resolutions for, emotional and perceptual queries within the self any more than it can find them between individuals. One does not think about what is right or wrong for oneself, one feels it. Self-fulfilment concerns itself with doing what is appropriate according to each individual's own construction of what is right and good for him or her.

<sup>47</sup>Ibid., 24.

#### II. MORALITY AND HUMAN ASSOCIATION

There is one more dimension of moral action which must be explored before concluding this chapter: the social aspect or character of moral action. In the Hobbesian notion of human nature moral action resulted from the coming together of individuals, who are naturally free from one another, into civilized society. Prior to any civil society there is no such thing as morality per se in so far as morality is nothing more than conventional rules set up so as to maintain order in society. If, as Hobbes argues, one of man's greatest desires is to be free to do as he pleases and to acquire and seek out all that is and will be desirable to him, then what would prompt him to give any of this freedom up and follow rules?

Hobbes would tell us that in the state of nature, or the state of complete freedom, all men are equal in their desires for things and their ability to acquire them. In the state of nature, the natural condition of man is portrayed by Hobbes as being one of constant war.<sup>48</sup> In a state of constant war, war to survive and avoid violent death, and war to protect one's property, life is one devoid of conceptions of time, art, literature or society, "and which is worst of all, continual fear, and danger of violent death"<sup>49</sup> and each individual's life is "solitary, poor, nasty, brutish, and short."<sup>50</sup> Men are not social by nature, and only by moving out of the state of nature can man find some sort of security and escape from his fear of violent death. Ultimately man is social, good and agreeable out of fear.

<sup>48</sup>Hobbes, 100. <sup>49</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>50</sup>Ibid.

Not all thinkers of his time shared Hobbes' paranoia about the state of nature. Thinkers such as John Locke believed that human beings share, in the state of nature as well as in civil society, a certain affection for one another. Indeed for Locke man comes together in civil society primarily to protect his property.<sup>51</sup> Despite the seemingly more charitable interpretation of human nature, human association within community was still perceived to arise out of fear of one another, mistrust, and individual self-absorption or self-centredness. C.B. Macpherson refers to the above explanations for human association as "possessive individualism."<sup>52</sup>

Macpherson explains that possessive individualism assumes that human beings are human in so far as they are free "from the dependence of the wills of others." All human beings are "free from any relations with others except those relations which the individual enters voluntarily with a view to his own interest."<sup>53</sup> Since each individual's freedom and humanity are defined according to his ability

<sup>52</sup>C.B. Macpherson, <u>The Political Theory of Possessive Individualism</u> (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1985), 263-277, passim.

<sup>53</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 263.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>"If Man in the State of Nature be so free, as has been said; If he be absolute Lord of his own Person and Possessions, equal to the greatest, and subject to no Body, why will he part with his Freedom?...To which 'tis obvious to Answer, that though in the state of Nature he hath such a right, yet the Enjoyment of it is very uncertain, and constantly exposed to the Invasion of others. For all being Kings as much as he, every Man his Equal, and the greater part no strict Observers of Equity and Justice, the enjoyment of the property he has in this state is very unsafe, very unsecure. This makes him willing to quit this Condition, which however free, is full of fears and continual dangers: And 'tis not without reason, that he seeks out, and is willing to join in Society with others who are already united, or have a mind to unite of the mutual *preservation* of their Lives, Liberty and Estates, which I call by the general Name, Property." John Locke, <u>Two Treatise of Government</u> (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1988), chap.9, s123.

to enter into "self-interested relations" with others which in turn depends on "having exclusive control of (rights in) his own person and capabilities and since proprietorship is the generalized form of such control," each person is proprietor of his or her capabilities.<sup>54</sup> Any limit on an individual's freedom is only legitimate in so far as they are necessary to "secure the same freedom for others."<sup>55</sup> Human association exists in order to protect each "individual's property in his person and goods, and ... for the maintenance of orderly relations of exchange between individuals regarded as proprietors of themselves."<sup>56</sup> Societies arise out of a rational calculation that our interests are better served within such a setting.

For the emotivist human interaction arises out of feelings for one another. I associate myself with those who share similar feelings about similar things, while simultaneously respecting those who do not share my feelings. The ideal social setting for the emotivist is one in which we all have the freedom from any interference with our quest to indulge in our desires, while respecting the same freedom for others. Why respect another's freedom one might ask? The rational individualist would argue that it is in my interest to respect the freedom of others in so far as I wish others to respect my freedom. To the emotivist the reason is quite simple it feels good to make others feel good and others feel good when they are allowed to indulge in their desires and interests.

Turning to MacIntyre we recall that in the context of emotivism I

<sup>54</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>55</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 264. <sup>56</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

reason and evaluate as a means for "the expression of my own feelings or attitudes and the transformation of the feelings and attitudes of others."57 There is no rational objective criterion to turn to for one's assessment of good or bad. There are only individual attitudes about it. Therefore dialogue ceases and the only means of finding common ground is through manipulation. In other words I believe that abortion is wrong, whereas you believe it is right, unless we have some rational point from which we can agree to start from we must turn to manipulative means of persuasion. I must convince you by invoking feelings of disgust for abortion or you must convince me by invoking feelings of approval. Ultimately any means can be justified in order to achieve our individual causes. I once heard someone state that lies are always justified when the goal is believed to be just. But the necessity of lies to address an opponents argument only arises when the foundations of one's position are unsound or unjust.<sup>58</sup> MacIntyre warns that the social content to a philosophy like emotivism "entails the obliteration of any genuine distinction between manipulative and nonmanipulative social relations."59

Within the context of an anthropology which is so entirely selfcentred, what might be the nature of human relationships? According to Charles Taylor an understanding of human nature which is entirely focused on a "purely personal understanding of self-fulfilment [makes]

<sup>59</sup>MacIntyre, 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>MacIntyre, 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>"It is the very heart of fascism to think that what matters is not what is true, but what one holds to be true. What one holds to be true is important because it can produce that resolute will, tuned to its own triumph." Grant, "The Triumph of the Will," 16.

the various associations and communities in which the person enters purely instrumental in its significance."<sup>60</sup> Why is this so? If my only source of reference is my feelings then my decision to associate with and enter into relationships with others must be because it is pleasing to me. In other words I associate with others not because it is good, not because it is necessary, but because it is advantageous. Others become instruments of my pleasure; they are means to my desire for companionship, sexual gratification, financial stability, etc.

The above arguments assume in one manner or another that human association is chosen, that human beings can choose to exist in complete isolation from each other or to live together. But what if human beings are by their very nature social and political creatures? To propose that human beings are social as well as political by nature is to imply that only within a social setting, that is within a community, can human beings live truly human lives. As St.Thomas tells us,

> man is by nature a political and social animal. Even more than other animals he lives in groups (*multitudine*). This is demonstrated by the requirements of his nature. Nature has given other animals food, furry covering, teeth, and horns and claws—or at least speed of flight as means to defend themselves. Man however, is given none of these by nature. Instead he has been given the use of his reason to secure all these things by the work of his hands. But a man cannot secure all these by himself. Therefore it is natural for man to live in

<sup>60</sup>Charles Taylor, <u>The Malaise of Modernity</u> (Concord: House of Anansi Press Limited, 1991), 43.

### association with his fellows.<sup>61</sup>

But does this claim contradict what has already been stated as to man's need to live in community? Did not Hobbes assert that man lives together in society to fulfil certain needs? How is the above different from an individualistic or utilitarian interpretation of human association?

It has already been argued that some thinkers view human association as an evolution or outgrowth of individual self interest. Although my own interests are paramount to me I am willing to forgo some of them in order to be able to live in a reasonably stable environment which in tern allows me to fulfil at least some, if not most, of my desires. It is easier to live together under certain restrictions than to live alone in constant fear of one another. What St. Thomas is stating is not that human beings decide that they should live together because it is in their interest, rather he is arguing that man has no other alternative, that human association is not a matter of choice or interest but a matter of man's nature. The term association itself means "a body of persons organized for a common purpose; mental connection of ideas; companionship."<sup>62</sup> Only human beings can associate in the truest sense of the word in so far as only human beings are capable of being connected through common purposes and ideas. For St.Thomas the most telling proof of man's social nature is "his faculty of expressing his ideas to other men through the medium of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>St.Thomas Aquinas, <u>On Politics and Ethics</u>, ed. and trans. Paul E. Sigmund (New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1988), 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup><u>The Oxford Dictionary of Current English</u>, 1987 ed., s.v. "association."

language."<sup>63</sup> Community is the milieu in which each individual lives his or her life in "close connection with neighbour and is, as it were, nourished by reciprocal personal communion with them amid an intimate coexistence in society."<sup>64</sup> Human association exists as an inherent feature of each human being, it is not fabricated or invented it exists within the fabric of human nature as our ability to breathe, eat and procreate exist.

For the rational egoist morality is connected to community as a convenient set of rules that ensures a certain amount of order in an otherwise unpredictable and uncertain life. For the emotivist, who define good and bad as that which evokes feelings of approbation and disapprobation, morality is also sets of rules or conventions that are necessary to provide for those members of society who may be emotional deviants. For the realist morality is a state of character that allows human beings to do what is best for themselves as human beings. Morally right action is action that is willed toward a good end apprehended by reason. But what is the connection to community?

Richard McCormick claims that "true moral insight is mediated to the individual through participation in the community."<sup>65</sup> For the rational egoist as well as for the emotivist morality and community are

<sup>64</sup>Sacred Congregation for the Doctrine of the Faith, <u>Vatican</u> <u>Declaration on Abortion</u> (Saskatchewan: Marian Press, 1982), 4.

<sup>65</sup>McCormick, <u>How Brave a New World?</u>, 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>Frederick Copleston, S.J., <u>A History of Philosophy</u> vol. 2 (New York: An Image Book, Doubleday, 1985), 413. "It is not possible for one man to arrive at the knowledge of all these things through the use of his reason. Thus it is necessary for him to live in society so that one person can help another and different men can employ their reasons in different ways, one in medicine, and others in this or that endeavour. This is most clearly demonstrated by the fact that man uses language to communicate his thoughts fully to others." St.Thomas, 15.

to a greater or lesser degree fabricated for admitted or implied selfinterest. For the realist morality and community are part of human nature, are necessary for human fulfilment and mark each individual's humanness. Morality and community therefore are understood as connected. Action that is morally good or right is good or right in so far as its aim is toward the end for man as man and is good in and of itself. In light of man's relationship to community his actions should be not only good for him but also must take into consideration their impact on his community. Aristotle is said to argue that

> the good for the individual by himself will be his good to the extent that we can grasp it without considering his relations to a state; and Aristotle warns that the extent is quite limited, since we find the complete good for an individual only when we consider his relations to the state.<sup>66</sup>

The good for an individual cannot be seen in isolation from the good for other human beings. Hence, it is fallacious to claim that what is morally good for an individual depends on his desires and feelings. First because one's feelings and desires cannot be judged good or bad, for we cannot know what is in the hearts of others. And second my feelings are my own whereas human goods are available to all.

Human action or moral action occurs within a human context meaning that the implications of human action reach not only within the individual actor but also to other individuals in his or her community. Moral action has its starting point within an individual actor but the outcome of moral action touches not only the actor but his community as well. One might say that moral action is at the same time personal and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>Terence Irwin, <u>Aristotle's First Principles</u> (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1990), 352.

interpersonal.

The existence of morality or moral virtue emerges from man's teleological existence. It presumes that we come into being with an end particular to humans and that certain actions are conducive or proper to the fulfilment of our end and others are destructive of it. The end that philosophers like Aristotle and St.Thomas had in mind is an end that ultimately transcends immediate human ends such as the satisfaction of our appetites and desires. Alasdair MacIntyre explains it as follows:

> Within a teleological scheme there is a fundamental contrast between man-as-he-happensto-be and man-as-he-should-be-if-he-realizedhis-essential-nature. Ethics is the science which is to enable men to understand how they make the transition from the former state to the latter. Ethics therefore in this view presupposes some account of the essence of man as a rational animal and above all some account of the human telos.<sup>67</sup>

According to MacIntyre to attempt to articulate a conception of morality while at the same time rejecting man's teleological nature is incoherent. He is suggesting that it is impossible for one to arrive at a consistent, reasonable, and acceptable answer to moral questions without taking into consideration man's proper end.

If one assumes that human beings are primarily egoistic an intelligible reason for them freely to curb their passions for the sake of others is always fragile. Concepts such as rational self-interest presume that despite man's natural egoism he is able to transcend complete self-centredness through his sympathy for the interests and desires of others. But truly moral choices do not emerge from self-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>MacIntyre, 52.

interested compromises. Ultimately the risk for conflicts of interest is more prevalent in a context where right and wrong are judged based on self-interest. What measure is to be used to gauge which interest is more deserving of preference? In so far as a teleological notion of human nature requires a self-transformation and a curbing of one's passions and desires to make them conform to what is good for me as a human, there is less likely to arise conflicts among what is good for me as a human and what is good for my neighbour as a human.<sup>68</sup> It is unlikely that there will be conflicts between the goods of individuals because "the good is neither mine peculiarly nor yours peculiarly goods are not private property."<sup>69</sup> What each individual feels and desires for himself can often prompt conflict as Hobbes points out, but what is *best* for human beings is available to all and belongs to none in particular.

### III. ABORTION AND MORALITY

Keeping in mind the above interpretations of what constitutes the good for man, the end and purpose of moral action and the subsequent interpretations of what it means to fulfil oneself or ones nature, we turn to the issue of abortion. How are the above arguments relevant to the question of the moral character of abortion? It is the contention of this thesis that any conclusion about the moral character of abortion will vary according to the given interpretation of the nature

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>This is not to say that such conflicts do not arise, for example in situations where two lives are at stake but only one can be saved. This manner of conflict will be addressed in a discussion of the principle of double effect, in chapter 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>MacIntyre, 229.

and end of morality in particular and the nature and end of man in general.

Abortion is defined as "the procuring of premature delivery so as to destroy offspring."<sup>70</sup> The procurement of an abortion normally involves a choice of what course of action will be taken. Unless an abortion is physically forced upon a woman or physically with-held from her she always has a choice as to whether or not to abort her child. By the same token a doctor also always has a choice as to whether he or she will perform an abortion. Abortion is a free act proceeding from the will toward an end apprehended by reason, that end being the termination of a pregnancy and the necessary death of a human life.

The next question which arises is whether or not abortion is morally permissible or morally impermissible. Some argue that abortion is always morally permissible. Others assert that abortion is morally permissible in most circumstances with some exceptions. And there are those who claim that abortion, except under very strict conditions, is always morally impermissible. These arguments will be the focus of the next two chapters.

## <sup>70</sup>Oxford English Dictionary, ed. 1967, s.v. "abortion."

#### CHAPTER TWO

### THE PERMISSIBILITY OF ABORTION: A MORAL ARGUMENT?

The literature on abortion is permeated with many arguments as to why one could or should conclude that abortion is morally permissible. Some claim that the foetus is not a human person until birth and therefore need not be given any moral considerations. Others state that in the earlier stages of existence or until considered viable, viability meaning that time at which the not-yet-born child is capable of surviving outside the mother's womb,<sup>71</sup> the foetus has not developed to the point where moral consideration need be given. Still others argue that though it may be asserted that a foetus is human and therefore should be given some moral consideration we need not give such a human being the same moral consideration that we would give to "fully developed" human beings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>"Viability: capable of living or existing or (of foetus) maintaining life. <u>The Oxford Dictionary of Current English</u>, 1987 ed., s.v. "viability."; "Viability is the capability of a pre-natal child to live in a place other than his or her mother's womb. If a child is capable of living outside the womb, without or with medical help, then the child is considered viable. If a child is not capable of living outside the womb, without and with medical help, the child is considered nonviable. In other words, viability involves the relationship between a human being and his or her life-sustaining environment." Hank Van der Breggen, <u>An Enquiry Concerning Human Abortion</u> (Burlington, Ontario: Crown Publications, 1988), 19. The point of viability is contentious because with the advent of new technologies doctors are able to save premature infants at an earlier stage. In the U.S. viability is legally deemed to start in the third trimester, yet premature infants as young as twenty weeks old have been delivered and have survived.

As we examine these assumptions in the arguments of Michael Tooley, Judith Jarvis Thomson, Christine Overall, and Carol Gilligan, it will become evident that some hold that there are certain categories of human being that are less worthy of being treated with dignity than others. The human foetus is one such category of human being. It will also be observed that in order to justify the moral permissibility of abortion morality is reinterpreted.

## I. AN ARGUMENT AS TO WHY ABORTION AND INFANTICIDE ARE ALWAYS JUSTIFIED

It has been argued that before any conclusions can be drawn about the moral status of abortion first the foetus' right to life must be ascertained. In the words of Michael Tooley, author of the book <u>Abortion and Infanticide</u>, "the problem of the morality of abortion cannot be resolved until one has a plausible account of the moral status of human foetuses."<sup>72</sup> By a plausible account of the moral status of the human foetus Tooley means that it must be demonstrated that a human foetus has a "serious right to life."<sup>73</sup> The morality of abortion depends on whether the foetus has a right to life, which in turn requires a determination of those "properties, other than potentialities, [that] suffice to endow an entity with a right to life."<sup>74</sup> It is not enough to argue against abortion on the basis of the rights of the foetus as a human being or as a member of the species homo sapiens, for that is to argue on the basis of species,

<sup>73</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>74</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>Michael Tooley, <u>Abortion and Infanticide</u> (Oxford, England: Oxford University Press, 1983), 49.

and difference in species is not per se a morally relevant difference. If one holds that it is seriously wrong to kill an unborn member of the species homo sapiens but not an unborn kitten, one should be prepared to point to some property that is significant and that is possessed by unborn members of Homo sapiens but not by unborn kittens. Similarly, such a property must be identified if one believes it seriously wrong to kill unborn members of Homo sapiens that have achieved viability but not seriously wrong to kill unborn kittens that have achieved that state.<sup>75</sup>

Tooley concludes that only "persons" have a right to life because only persons possess those properties that are necessary in order to have rights.<sup>76</sup>

Tooley tells us that "an organism possesses a serious right to life only if it possesses the concept of self as a continuing subject of experiences and other mental states, and believes that it is itself such a continuing entity."<sup>77</sup> In order for a subject to desire that itself should continue to exist "as a subject of experience and other mental states" it must first believe that "it is now such a subject." In other words a subject possesses a right to life once it possesses self-consciousness.

Self-consciousness is important to Tooley's argument because it is the determining factor in a being's ability to possess rights. To say that someone has a right to something is to recognize "that there is a conceptual connection between specific rights and the capacities

<sup>76</sup>Idem, Abortion and Infanticide 59-77 passim.

<sup>77</sup>Idem, "Abortion and Infanticide," 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>Michael Tooley, "Abortion and Infanticide" <u>Philosophy and Public</u> <u>Affairs</u> 2 (1972-73): 51.

for specific [that in turn] presupposes desires."<sup>78</sup> Only a selfconscious being is capable of desiring and recognizing that she is desiring. We can assume that animals desire certain things such as life in so far as we can observe them fight to survive. But we cannot extrapolate from this observation that an animal recognizes or is conscious that his fight for survival is a desire for life. We can ascertain human consciousness of a desire for life in a variety of ways. One way is a person articulating such a desire. Another is observing a person planning for the future. So to say that someone has a right to life is to say that she has a desire to live and that she is conscious of said desire. This, however, need not be a stated or even implied desire for, as Tooley claims, an individual does not have to have an explicit desire in order for it to be the case that something is in his/her interest.<sup>79</sup> An individual must at least have at one time a desire for life and must be conscious of that desire for life in order that it be the case that he/she has a serious right to life. Hence if an individual is in a coma or unconscious they do not lose their right to life simply because they are momentarily incapable of desiring life. Tooley formulates his argument as follows:

(1) The concept of a right is such that an individual cannot have a right at time t to continued existence unless the individual is such that it can be in its interest at time t that it continue to exist.
 (2) The continued existence of a given subject of consciousness cannot be in that individual's interest at time t unless *either* that individual has a desire, at time t, to continue to exist as a subject of consciousness, *or* that

<sup>78</sup>Idem, <u>Abortion and Infanticide</u>, 122.
<sup>79</sup>Ibid., 117.

individual can have desires at other times.
(3) An individual cannot have a desire to continue to exist as a subject of consciousness unless it possesses the concept of a continuing self or mental substance.
(4) An individual existing at one time cannot have desires at other times unless there is at least one time at which it possesses the concept of a continuing self or mental substance.
Therefore:
(5) An individual cannot have a right to continued existence unless there is at least one time at which it possesses the concept of a continued existence unless there is at least one time at which it possesses the concept of a continued existence unless there is at least one time at which it possesses the concept of a

continuing self or mental substance.

A right to life or "to continued existence" requires that an individual at one time has had an awareness of herself as subject of continuing existence and other mental states. Having already had such selfconsciousness it may be argued that even in cases where said individual is asleep, has lost consciousness or is in a coma she must still be entitled to a right to life. This is true, says Tooley, because it may be rationally assumed that, although said individual at time t is incapable of asserting and defending her right to life, she would still have a desire for continued existence and therefore an interest to live.<sup>81</sup>

One might ask why a foetus may not be considered to be an individual who can be assumed to have a right to continued existence in so far as she has a potential for a future desire for continued existence. Tooley responds to this by arguing that "a subject of interests, in the relevant sense of interest, must necessarily be a subject of conscious states, including experiences and desires."<sup>82</sup> A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>Ibid., 121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup>Ibid., 109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>Ibid., 119.

foetus, is not yet such subject because "it has not developed to the point where there is any subject of consciousness associated with it. It cannot therefore have any interests at all, and *a fortiori*, it cannot have any interest in its own continued existence."<sup>83</sup> This being the case Tooley also argues that a new born is no more a possessor of a serious right to life than a foetus is in so far as a newborn is no more conscious of itself as a subject of desires and interest than a foetus is.

Tooley later repudiates the argument that it is morally wrong to kill a foetus because it has a *potential* for self-consciousness. He rejects the potentiality argument based on what he refers to as "the symmetry principle." According to this principle "positive actions require effort, and this means that in deciding what to do a person has to take into account his own right to do what he wants with his life, and not only the other person's right to life."<sup>84</sup> Tooley proposes that one suppose that at some future time a chemical is created that could be injected into kittens endowing them with those properties fulfil the self-consciousness requirement. In such an instance "it would surely be morally indefensible...to ascribe a serious right to life to members of the species Homo sapiens without also ascribing it to cats that have undergone such a process of development."<sup>85</sup> But it would not be morally wrong to inject the kitten with the chemical, nor to kill it. "The possibility of transforming kittens into persons will not make it

## <sup>83</sup>Ibid.

<sup>84</sup>Idem, "Abortion and Infanticide," 60.
<sup>85</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 61.

any more wrong to kill newborn kittens than it is now."<sup>86</sup> If it is not wrong to refrain from initiating the process of development of the kitten, according to the symmetry principle "neither is it wrong to interfere with such a process."<sup>87</sup> Finally if it is not wrong to interfere with the process in the injected kitten either by neutralizing the process with another chemical or by simply killing the kitten then "neither can it be seriously wrong to destroy a member of Homo sapiens which lacks such properties, but will naturally come to have them."<sup>88</sup> This being said Tooley concludes that

> it is reasonable to believe that there are properties possessed by adult members of Homo sapiens which establish their right to life, and also that any normal human foetus will come to possess those properties shared by adult human beings. But...if it is wrong to kill a human foetus it cannot be because of its potentialities.<sup>89</sup>

The potential to become a person who possesses self-consciousness in itself cannot be the grounds for granting that a foetus is entitled to any moral consideration.

Let us now turn to Tooley's conception of rights. According to Tooley "to ascribe a right to an individual is to assert something about the prima facie obligations of other individuals to act, or to refrain from acting, in certain ways."<sup>9</sup> Obligations here are "conditional ones." That is "they are dependent upon the existence of

<sup>86</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>87</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>88</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>89</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 62. <sup>90</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 44. certain desires of the individual to whom the right is ascribed."91 He explains it as follows: "A has a right to X is roughly synonymous with If A desires X, then others are under a prima facie obligation to refrain from actions that would deprive him of it."92 If one is to concede that A has a right to X then one is essentially agreeing that in so far as A desires X and that it can be reasonably recognized that X is in the interest of A others have an obligation to refrain from taking X from A. So John has a right to life only in so far as at one point he possessed those properties that allowed him to desire life, he was conscious of himself as a self-conscious self, thus making life an interest of John's. John need not be desiring life at the moment that one is attempting to take it for it to be a violation of his right to life; he need simply have already experienced a desire for life and must be capable of experiencing it at a future time. Rights here are defined in terms of desires and desires are limited by an individual's self-consciousness as a subject of desire.

Finally Tooley holds that if a foetus does not have a serious right to life because it does not possess a concept of continuing self then nor does a new born baby. He states "that a new born baby does not possess the concept of a continuing self, no more than a newborn kitten possesses such a concept. If so, infanticide during a time interval shortly after birth must be morally acceptable."<sup>93</sup>

<sup>91</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
 <sup>92</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 45.
 <sup>93</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 63.

### II. RIGHT TO LIFE AND RIGHT TO PROPERTY

Not all thinkers who argue for the moral permissibility of abortion do so on the grounds that the foetus does not possess a right to life. Judith Jarvis Thomson begins her essay on the moral permissibility of abortion by asserting that even if one assumes that a foetus is a human being who possesses rights and a right to life, one need not conclude that abortion is impermissible.<sup>94</sup> The aim of her essay is "to raise doubts about the argument that abortion is impermissible because the foetus is a person, and all persons have a right to life."<sup>95</sup> She sets out to demonstrate by means of various analogies that in most cases a woman who chooses abortion is making a morally permissible choice.

For the sake of argument she proposes that the personhood of the foetus be granted, then she proposes the possibility of the following argument:

Every person has a right to life. So the foetus has a right to life. No doubt the mother has a right to decide what shall happen in and to her body...But surely a person's right to life is stronger and more stringent than the mother's right to decide what happens in and to her body, and so outweighs it."<sup>%</sup>

The above reasoning assumes that the foetus is a person with the right to life and cannot be stripped of this right thereby making abortion impermissible.

Thomson proceeds to disprove the proposition of the supremacy of

<sup>94</sup>Judith Jarvis Thompson, "A Defense of Abortion," <u>Philosophy and</u> <u>Public Affairs</u> 1 (1971): 47-66.

<sup>95</sup>Judith Jarvis Thompson, "Rights and Death," <u>Philosophy and Public</u> <u>Affairs</u> 2 (1972-73): 146.

<sup>96</sup>Idem, "A Defense of Abortion," 48.

the foetus' right to life along with a number of other arguments that conclude the moral impermissibility of abortion. These arguments range from what Thomson calls "the extreme view"<sup>97</sup> that abortion is always impermissible even to save the life of the mother, to a less stringent yet still restrictive view that abortion may be utilized to save the life of the mother or in cases such as rape or incest but under any other circumstances it is morally impermissible.

Thomson's aim is to demonstrate that a person's right to life does not guarantee "either that he has a right to be given the use of whatever he needs for life, or that he has a right to continued use of whatever he is currently using, and needs for life."<sup>98</sup> In order to illustrate the point Thomson elaborates for us the following hypothetical situation:

> Let me ask you to imagine this. You wake up in the morning and find yourself back to back in bed with an unconscious violinist. A famous unconscious violinist. He has been found to have a fatal kidney ailment, and the Society for music lovers has canvassed all the available medical records and found that you alone have the right blood type. They have therefore kidnapped you, and last night the violinist's circulatory system was plugged into yours, so that your kidneys can be used to extract poisons from his blood as well as your own. The director of the hospital now tells you, "Look, we're sorry the Society of Music Lovers did this to you-we would never have permitted it if we had known. But still, they did it, and the violinist now is plugged into you. To unplug you would be to kill him. But never mind, it's only nine months. By then he will have recovered from his ajlment, and can safely be unplugged from you."

<sup>97</sup>Ibid., 50.

<sup>98</sup>Idem, "Rights and Deaths," 146.

<sup>99</sup>Idem, "A Defense of Abortion," 48.

For Thomson this situation demonstrates that there are instances in which an individual's right to life may and does hinder another's right to life and comfort. In the circumstances of her imaginary story the violinist's right to life cannot justify the forcible abduction of an unknowing person and his subsequent detention. For Thomson the violinist story is analogous to certain situations in which the mother cannot or will not bring her child to term. Using the same logic as in the violinist analogy she proposes that the unborn child, though having a right to life, does not have the right to use the body of its mother in order to sustain its life. There are, therefore, instances where the procuring of an abortion is morally permissible.

Let us examine what Thomson means by morally permissible and what she appears to understand rights to imply. She asks quite correctly, how does one arrive at the conclusion that abortion is morally impermissible from the so-called right to life of the foetus?<sup>100</sup> Yet she like Tooley bases the moral legitimacy of abortion on the priority of a woman's rights over the unborn's. Hence morality hinges here too on the weight of the rights of the unborn. Unlike Tooley, however, while Thomson is "arguing for the permissibility of abortion in some cases, [she is] not arguing for the right to secure the death of the unborn child."<sup>101</sup> What needs to be clarified is how she is able to demonstrate the permissibility of abortion in some cases and the moral impermissibility of abortion in other cases?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup>For it seems to me to be of great interest to ask what happens if, for the sake of argument, we allow the premise [that the foetus is a person]. How, precisely, are we supposed to get from there to the conclusion that abortion is morally impermissible? <u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup>Ibid., 66.

In the case of abortion to save the life of the mother she argues that even given that the foetus has a right to life it must be presumed that the mother has an equal right to life. How, then, can it be concluded that abortion may not be performed?<sup>102</sup> Perhaps we should add to the mothers right to life "her right to decide what happens in and to her body?"<sup>103</sup> If this were done would not the sum of the mother's rights being violated outweigh the single violation of the right to life of the foetus? What about the mother's right to self-defense? Are we not allowed to defend ourselves against the threat of death? If carrying the child to term would kill the mother is it not morally permissible to try and save the life of the mother even if it means taking the life of the foetus?

Thomson tells us that some argue that no matter what the circumstance taking the life of another innocent human being is morally wrong. She contends that to some an abortion to save the life of the mother "would be directly killing the child, whereas doing nothing would not be killing the mother, but only letting her die."<sup>104</sup> By direct killing Thomson means "either killing as an end in itself, or killing as a means to some end, for example, the end of saving someone else's life."<sup>105</sup> To kill a human being directly is murder and murder is always morally impermissible therefore abortions must be morally

<sup>102</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 50. <sup>103</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>104</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>105</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

impermissible.<sup>106</sup> However, Thomson rejects this assumption that an abortion to save the life of the mother is morally wrong. It cannot be seriously considered to be murder, she proposes, if a woman undergoes an abortion to save her own life. No one is morally bound to refrain from saving oneself.<sup>107</sup> She tells us; "a woman surely can defend her life against the threat to it posed by the unborn child, even if doing so involves its death."<sup>108</sup>

Thomson argues that even if it is granted that the foetus has a right to life this does not imply that it is not morally permissible, under certain circumstances to abort the foetus.<sup>109</sup> In her view the right to life can include a right to be given "the bare minimum" that is needed for continued existence, but not if this minimum includes something one has no right to.<sup>110</sup> For example what if one was burning up with fever and the only cure was the "cool hand" of Henry Fonda on one's fevered brow? Does this mean that one has a right to the use of

<sup>106</sup>If direct killing an innocent person is murder and thus impermissible, then the mother's killing the innocent person inside her is murder, and thus is impermissible. <u>Ibid.</u>, 51.

<sup>107</sup>Let us look again at the case of you and the violinist. There you are, in bed with the violinist, and the director of the hospital says to you, "It's all most distressing, and I deeply sympathize, but you see this is putting an additional strain on your kidneys, and you'll be dead within the month. But you have to stay where you are all the same. Because unplugging you would be directly killing an innocent violinist, and that's murder, and that's impermissible." If anything in the world is true, it is that you do not commit murder, you do not do what is impermissible, if you reach around to your back and unplug yourself from that violinist to save your life. <u>Ibid.</u>, 52.

<sup>108</sup>Ibid., 53.

<sup>109</sup>"I am arguing only that having a right to life does not guarantee having either a right to be given the use of or a right to be allowed continued use of another person's body even if one needs it for life itself." Ibid., 56.

<sup>110</sup>Ibid., 55.

Henry Fonda's cool hand?<sup>111</sup> Does the violinist have the right to use your kidney's simply because he has a right to life? In neither case does the person whose life is threatened have a right to either Fonda's hand nor your kidneys. This is true according to Thomson because nobody has the right to make use of your body unless "you give him such a right."<sup>112</sup> Thomson surmises that rather than consisting in the right not to be killed the right to life consists in the right not to be killed unjustly.<sup>113</sup> Abortion is only morally impermissible in those instances when it can be proven that the unborn is being killed unjustly; in other words when it can be proven that the killing of the foetus is directly taking from it something to which it has a right.<sup>114</sup>

The line of argument that Thomson is using presupposes that a woman is proprietor of her own body<sup>115</sup> and as such has final say as to its use. If this is true then a woman need not continue with a pregnancy unless she chooses to do so, in so far as it is her body and the unborn has no prior right to use her body unless she agrees to allow him to use it. Thomson concedes that there are circumstances where a woman ought not to have an abortion and ought to allow the child to live but it does not follow from this that the foetus has a right to use her body. Although you ought to let the unborn child make

<sup>111</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>112</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>113</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 57. <sup>114</sup>Ibid.

<sup>115</sup>"No doubt a mother has a right to decide what shall happen in and to her body; everyone would grant that." <u>Ibid.</u>, 48.

use of your body at some inconvenience<sup>116</sup> if you choose not to "we should say that...you are...self-centred and callous, indecent in fact, but not unjust."<sup>117</sup> One may presume that one ought to give up some time and some convenience in order to allow the child continued existence in one's body; however, it may not be concluded that he has a right to do so. To make such a claim would be to grant that the child has a right against the mother which in turn "is going to make the question of whether or not [one] has a right to a thing turn on how easy it is to provide [one] with it; and this seems...morally unacceptable."<sup>118</sup>

Thomson further suggests that refusing to allow a pregnancy to continue is the moral equivalent of refusing to be a good Samaritan. If it can be argued that there are times when the costs are too great to demand that one be a good Samaritan then surely there are times when the costs are too great for a woman to make sacrifices in order for an unborn child to be carried to term. Thomson says "it is not morally required of anyone that he give long stretches of his life...to sustaining the life of a person who has no special right to demand it."<sup>119</sup> Nowhere in the world is there a law which requires anyone to be anything but a minimally decent Samaritans.<sup>120</sup> Therefore it may not be demanded of someone to be morally bound to be anything but a

<sup>117</sup>Ibid.

<sup>118</sup>Ibid., 60.

<sup>119</sup>Ibid., 63.

<sup>120</sup>For the distinction between the good samaritan and the minimally decent samaritan see Thomson's essay "A Defense of Abortion," 62.

 $<sup>^{116}</sup>$  In the same way one ought to let the violinist use one's kidney for one hour. <u>Ibid.</u>, 61.

minimally decent Samaritan.

Thomson closes by addressing and ultimately dismissing the possibility that a woman has some kind of "special responsibility" toward her unborn child.

Surely we do not have any such "special responsibility" for a person unless we have assumed it, explicitly or implicitly. If a set of parents do not try to prevent pregnancy, do not obtain an abortion, but rather take it home with them, then they have assumed responsibility for it, they have given it rights, and they cannot *now* withdraw support from it at the cost of its life because they now find it difficult to go on providing for it.<sup>121</sup>

If on the other hand a couple has done everything in their power to avoid getting pregnant yet, as is apt to happen no matter how careful two people are, they do conceive "they may wish to assume responsibility for it, or they may not wish to. And [she] is suggesting that if assuming responsibility for it would require large sacrifices, they may refuse."<sup>122</sup>

Though Thomson is proposing that abortion is not necessarily morally wrong simply because the foetus has a right to life she is not arguing that it is morally permissible to secure the death of the unborn. She states "while I am arguing for the permissibility of abortion in some cases, I am not arguing for the right to secure the death of the unborn child."<sup>123</sup> What she has tried to do is demonstrate that no one is morally expected to give up any amount of time and convenience so as to ensure the survival of another. If one's action,

<sup>121</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 65. <sup>122</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>123</sup>Ibid., 66.

having an abortion or unplugging oneself from the violinist, results in the death of another it should not be assumed that one is necessarily responsible for directly killing the other. The intention is to be freed from the unauthorized invasion of one's person, and although one may be accused of being "self-centred and callous, indecent in fact," it may not be argued that one's action is unjust.<sup>124</sup> As much as her argument supports a woman's choice to have an abortion as a morally permissible act in some instances, for example pregnancy due to rape, she claims that it also "allows for and supports our sense that in other cases resort to abortion is even positively indecent."<sup>125</sup>

Christine Overall, in her book <u>Ethics and Human reproduction: A</u> <u>Feminist Analysis</u>, agrees with Thomson that the moral character of abortion need not depend on whether the foetus has a right to life because that right does not guarantee the embryo foetus the added right to use the mother's body for its survival. Overall claims that the moral impermissibility of abortion has "depended primarily upon the indubitable empirical fact that abortion results in the death of the embryo/foetus."<sup>126</sup> However the arrival of new reproductive technologies has put this fact into question. Overall tells us that abortion, rather than consisting in causing the death of the unborn must also be considered to consist in the premature emptying of the

<sup>126</sup>Christine Overall, <u>Ethics and Human Reproduction: A Feminist</u> <u>Analysis</u> (Boston, Mass.: Allen and Unwin, 1987), 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup>It would be indecent in the woman to request an abortion, and indecent in a doctor to perform it, if she is in her seventh month, and wants the abortion just to avoid the nuisance of postponing a trip abroad. <u>Ibid.</u>, 65.

uterus.<sup>127</sup> One might counter that because the emptying of the uterus results in the death of the unborn one cannot separate the act of emptying and the act of killing in abortion. But Overall warns that the two acts are "distinct, though causally related"<sup>128</sup> and their distinction has been recognized by other philosophers and in such principles as the Catholic doctrine of double effect. And though it is still not possible to save the unborn in the earlier stages of gestation technology is well on its way to solving this problem so that there will be a point in the not-too-distant future where abortion will not mean the killing of the unborn but simply the emptying of the uterus.<sup>129</sup> It is this potential development that provides, says Overall, "the opportunity for a reexamination of the issue of the morality of abortion."<sup>130</sup> It also allows for a separation of the two alleged rights which are seen by many to be in conflict with one another, the right to life of the unborn and the right of the pregnant woman to control her body.

Overall's intention is to discuss abortion in terms of rights but rather than to do this by arguing rights claims, she will address the abortion question in terms of the absence of rights. By rights Overall refers to "special claims or entitlements that can be set aside or

# <sup>127</sup>Ibid.

<sup>128</sup>Ibid., 69.

<sup>129</sup>"[T]he nature of abortion and of the related moral issues is changing and will change further because of recent developments in reproductive technology. These developments will mean that the two hitherto causally linked events, (1) the emptying to the uterus and (2) the death of the embryo/fetus can be severed. The expulsion of the embryo/fetus will no longer mean its death." <u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>130</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 70.

interfered with, if at all, only on the basis of other compelling moral grounds."<sup>[3]</sup>

By admitting that the unborn might have a right to life does not necessarily preclude the moral permissibility of abortion. This is true, says Overall, because though the embryo/foetus has a right to life it does not have a right to occupy the mother's uterus. The notyet-born child's lack of a right to "occupancy" in its mother's uterus is what Overall refers to as "a specific instance of the more general principle that no one has the right to the use of anyone else's body: that is, presumably, part of what makes rape and slavery wrong."<sup>132</sup> In most cases a woman's desire for abortion is not a desire for the death of the foetus, a desire to infringe on the right to life of the notyet-born, but a desire to cease being pregnant, to have one's uterus emptied. When a woman has an abortion, argues Overall, she "seems to be saying that she does not want and will not permit, the embryo/foetus to occupy her uterus. Her goal is clearly to end her pregnancy, but not necessarily to kill the embryo/foetus."133 And where a woman has an abortion with the desire to kill the embryo/foetus Overall asserts that this is morally wrong.<sup>134</sup>

Finally that the foetus has no general right to occupy its

- <sup>132</sup>Ibid., 77.
- <sup>133</sup>Ibid., 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup>"Writers like H. Tristran Engelhart Jr., are mistaken when they claim that the use of abortifacient devices that guarantee the death of the embryo/fetus is justified by "a woman's interest in not being a mother," and that "one would wish as well to forbid attempts, against the will of the mother, to sustain the life of an abortus prior to the established [legal] upper limit for abortions." <u>Ibid.</u>, 82.

mother's body does not preclude the possibility that "it might sometimes be wrong for a woman in some circumstances to end the embryo/foetus' occupancy of her uterus, and this might be so regardless of the fact that it has no general right to such occupancy."<sup>135</sup> For Overall abortion is morally wrong only in those instances where the actors involved intend to kill the embryo/foetus. And, in so far as she believes that in most cases the desire is not to kill but to empty abortion is morally permissible.

### III. ABORTION AS A PATH TO MATURITY

Carol Gilligan, in her book <u>In a Different Voice</u>, implies that abortion is morally permissible in most instances. She does not refer to the rightness or wrongness of abortion in terms of a woman's right to choose and the child's right to life, although an interest for both mother and child is implied when she claims that a woman's consideration of "whether to continue or abort a pregnancy" is the contemplation of "a decision which affects both self and others."<sup>136</sup> In Gilligan's book there is a appreciation that abortion is an issue that is not entirely personal in nature, and not entirely dependent on a particular individual's rights. This comes through most clearly in Gilligan's use of the notion of responsibility as it relates to moral decisions and community.<sup>137</sup>

The notions of responsibility and choice are the main focus of Gilligan's work on morality. Responsibility to self and to community is

<sup>135</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 79.
<sup>136</sup>Gilligan, <u>In a Different Voice</u>, 71.
<sup>137</sup>Ibid., 79.

impossible without choice. Gilligan implies that in having the choice to abort or not women finally are able to free themselves from the limits of traditional conceptions of woman's role and for the first time learn what it is to make a truly mature and responsible decision. The choice to abort is ultimately a woman's to make. She is finally being "asked whether she wishes to interrupt that stream of life which for centuries has immersed her in the passivity of dependence while at the same time imposing on her the responsibility of care."<sup>138</sup> For Gilligan the issue of abortion, like all other moral issues, is a question of the tension between what she refers to as "an ethic of care" and "a morality of rights."<sup>139</sup> She concludes that moral decisions can only be moral once one has the freedom to make a choice, rather than being bound to one decision based on some real or perceived obligation to one option. She says

> when birth control and abortion provide women with effective means for controlling their fertility, the dilemma of choice enters a central arena of women's lives. Then the relationships that have traditionally defined women's identities and framed their moral judgments no longer flow inevitably from their reproductive capacity but become matters of decision over which they have control. Released from the passivity and reticence of a sexuality that binds them in dependence, women can question with Freud what it is that they want and can assert their own answer to that question.<sup>140</sup>

By implicitly or explicitly telling women that abortion is not an inherently undesirable choice, that is by having legislation which

<sup>138</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>139</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 136. <sup>140</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 70.

places one's right to privacy above any regulation on abortion, or by having no policy at all, women have finally been allowed the freedom to make a truly moral choice. Abortion is not an act that is necessarily an undesirable act in so far as it can be an opportunity for personal growth.

### IV. REDEFINING MORALITY

All of the above arguments share in their implicit or explicit assumptions that moral action is connected to rights. For Tooley, Thomson, and Overall, an action is morally wrong only when it violates someone's rights. For Gilligan without certain rights we are not free to make choices and, therefore, we are unable to behave as truly moral agents. Would it be justified to argue that for the above authors modern rights are a precursor to, or a foundation of, moral action? The very notion that the prerequisite for moral right or wrong is the existence or absence of rights, or the violation thereof, would suggest that it is.

We might then ask what assumptions Tooley, Thomson, Overall, and Gilligan are making about human nature. Let us begin by looking at Michael Tooley's claims about morality or what he refers to as systems of morality. He asserts that in order for a moral system or set of moral rules to be binding on an individual they must be accompanied by parallel desires. He states "beliefs that are unaccompanied by relevant desires, do not, it would seem, affect what one is likely to do."<sup>141</sup> In the tradition of Thomas Hobbes, Tooley is asserting that one is

inclined to act one way or another from a desire or interest in the act and/or the outcome of the act. For example, John may have been told that stealing is wrong, but if his desire to have something that is only attainable to him through theft outweighs his desire not to be imprisoned then having been told that stealing is wrong would have no effect on him. Or as Tooley states,

to believe that some state of affairs is the case is not necessarily to be motivated to act in any particular way. A person who has learned that he is drinking contaminated water will usually stop, but this is because he will usually desire not to get sick.<sup>142</sup>

Right and wrong are then judged by each individual's desires and interests. If people had no interest in safeguarding their property then theft would not be morally wrong. But then what prevents individuals from acting on their own interests regardless of the interest of others? Is this not a recipe for anarchy and chaos? Would people choose to adhere to one "ethical system over another, even if ethical statements are neither true nor false or even if there are no objective value?"<sup>143</sup> Clearly people do in so far as most societies adhere to some standard of acceptable or unacceptable actions. But why? Tooley tells us that "one possibility is some relation to the interests of people living together in society."<sup>144</sup> That is most people would prefer to live in societies which have some form of moral rules despite their restrictive nature, rather than live in a society which "had no

<sup>142</sup>Tooley, <u>Abortion and Infanticide</u>, 20.
<sup>143</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 22.
<sup>144</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

moral rules at all."145

Morality and morally right action, for Tooley, means adhering to certain rudimentary rules that we choose to follow in so far as we would rather not live in a society without rules. He says,

> one can therefore say that, given the desires that people normally have, they have a reason for preferring a society with moral rules to one without. Similarly, it seems true to say that systems of moral rules vary considerably with respect to the impact they have upon the interests of people in general. If so then people have a reason for preferring some systems of moral rules to others.<sup>140</sup>

There is no objective foundation for the validity of moral statements, but this does not mean that there is no way in which two ethical systems can be rationally compared. Because Tooley defines "rational not in the sense that there is evidence that makes it likely that they are true, but in the sense that it is in the interest of people in general to accept them."<sup>147</sup>

Finally Tooley claims that some attention should be given to moral feelings. Although he warns that moral feelings can be unreliable indicators of correct moral principles,

> with the passage of time,...moral rules will change, and it seems plausible that a major factor that will influence the direction of change, if ethical principles are neither true or false, is the effect that acceptance of various principles has upon the interests of people in general. There will be a tendency, then, for societies to adopt moral principles that stand in closer and closer relation to the interests of people. As a result, moral feelings will gradually become more reliable

- <sup>145</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>146</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
- <sup>147</sup>Ibid., 23.

indicators of what ethical principles ought to be accepted.<sup>148</sup>

Therefore it is plausible for Tooley that "some sort of limited, and derived, significance"<sup>149</sup> be ascribed to moral feelings.

Tooley is implying that man is moved primarily by his feelings and corresponding desires and interests. In which case reason is instrumental and influences human action in so far as it corresponds to desires and interests. Human beings living together choose to adhere to moral rules because, generally speaking, people would rather live in a society with some rules than with none. Morality becomes parameters that are set as means of regulation. And if morality is parameters then so are rights, since rights are ascribed and a means of asserting "prima facie obligations" other individuals have to act or refrain from acting toward another.<sup>150</sup> Rights here are simply a means of articulating each individual's interests, and so is morality.

Similarly Thomson equates morality with that which may or may not unjustly impinge upon the rights of another. For example she argues that, in the case of her violinist, it is not morally impermissible to detach oneself from said violinist even if doing so would kill the violinist. It would be morally impermissible on the other hand to slash the violinists throat in order to free oneself of him.<sup>151</sup> The former is permissible because the violinist never had a right to be attached

<sup>148</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 26.
<sup>149</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 30.
<sup>150</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 119.
<sup>151</sup>Thomson, "A Defense of Abortion," 56.

to you in the first place and hence by detaching yourself there is no violation of his rights as he had no right to use your body to begin with. In the second instance you are directly violating his right to life.<sup>152</sup> She further infers that what is morally wrong must be shown to be directly caused and intended, and that what is morally wrong is that which is actively done and not passively refrained from being done. Again we see this in her violinist analogy, in her claim that the intention of unplugging oneself from the violinist has as its end to be freed from him and not his death. Also because the violinist never did have a right to use your body it is not actively violating a right to withhold that which was never his in the first place. According to Thomson the death of the violinist that results from you not being attached to him any longer occurs only incidentally.

Like Tooley, both Thomson and Overall suggest that our moral obligation to another depends on the existence of their right to claim it. So if someone is very ill and requires aid from me, for example Thomson's violinist, there exists no moral obligation to give said aid. If I choose to allow myself to be attached to the violinist the most that can be said is that I have chosen to be a Good Samaritan. If I deem the action to be too much trouble then I may be a very selfish person but I cannot be called immoral, because the violinist has no prior right to my blood even if it is the only way that his life can be saved. His eventual death is tragic and one might rightly accuse me of being selfish and uncaring, but I cannot be accused of being unjust. Our sole requirement toward others is not to infringe upon their

rights, where those rights can be demonstrated to exist. This Thomson would equate to being a "minimally Decent Samaritan."

For Overall and Thomson, as it is for Tooley, the action of an individual only has moral implications in so far as it may or may not infringe on the rights of others, or when we may or may not be acting out of a justified right. Thomson and Overall go on to argue that having a right does not guarantee one the permission to do as one pleases in order to secure said right.<sup>153</sup> Having a right simply means that others are expected to refrain from actions which infringe on my right but it does not give me the added right to use whatever means are at my disposal to secure my initial right.

If we were to admit that a foetus is a human being with certain rights, one of those rights being the right to life, then why is it permissible for the mother to abort, thereby killing, the foetus? One may wish to argue that the foetus is infringing on certain of his or her mother's "freedoms", but is it just for her to infringe on her child's freedom to live? Thomson and Overall may choose to side step this by claiming that the intent is not to take away life, but to be free of the foetus. The reality of a mother freeing herself from her unborn child, however, is that the child dies.

According to Thomson the fact that a foetus may have a right to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup>Thomson claims that "the right to life consists not in the right not to be killed, but rather in the right not to be killed unjustly." So all persons, argues Thomson, have a right to life but this does not "guarantee having either a right to be given the use of or a right to be allowed continued use of another person's body-even if one needs it for life itself." Thomson, "A Defense of Abortion" p.56; Overall states that rather than making a claim about the woman's right to control her body as a defense for abortion she bases her argument on the "more general principle that no one has a right to the use of anyone else's body; that is, presumably, part of what makes rape and slavery wrong." Overall, 77.

life does not necessarily preclude the moral permissibility of abortion in most cases. This is true because one's obligation and responsibility to another lies in that person's right to have one act in one way rather than another.<sup>154</sup> And according to Overall the foetus' real or perceived right to life does not involve the added right to the use of a woman's uterus to secure a right to life.<sup>155</sup> The only instance in which we can be said to have any responsibility toward another is if one implicitly or explicitly assumes responsibility. In the case of parents and their unborn child responsibility only arises, says Thomson, "if a set of parents do not try to prevent pregnancy, do not obtain an abortion, but rather take it home with them."<sup>156</sup> In this manner, Thomson argues, the parents give the child rights that can no longer be withdrawn.<sup>157</sup>

Morality is redefined in terms of rules and parameters that are said to be created in order to protect what is, generally speaking, in people's interest. It is a means of trying to control the general population from intentionally impeding the interests of others, where those interest lie. But it is not a blanket license to use whatever means possible to ensure that one's interests are safeguarded. It is not quite clear where Thomson or Overall believe rights originate from but it can be assumed that they hold that rights are conferred. If so,

<sup>155</sup>Overall, 84.

<sup>156</sup>Thomson, "A Defense of Abortion," 65.

<sup>157</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup>"So my view is that even though you ought to let the violinist use your kidneys for the one hour he needs, we should not conclude that he has a right to do so-we should say that if you refuse, you are...selfcentred and callous, indecent in fact, but not unjust." Thomson, "A Defense of Abortion," 61.

by whom? Are they conferred by nature? By fellow human beings? And if they are conferred can they be taken away?

In conclusion let us turn to Carol Gilligan. Gilligan claims that "[t]he essence of moral decision is the exercise of choice and the willingness to accept responsibility for that choice."<sup>158</sup> Her treatise on morality from a woman's perspective begins from the premise that moral decisions are only possible where choice is possible for where choice is taken away so is responsibility. Responsibility itself is crucial because it removes the decision from a self-centred perspective and allows both self and others to be taken into consideration. She wishes to draw a connection between moral decisions and social participation, between responsibility and community; "the shift from selfishness to responsibility, is a move toward social participation."<sup>159</sup>

Gilligan implies throughout her work that true responsibility lies in a decision to abort. "Pregnancy itself confirms femininity, as Josie says...But the abortion decision becomes for her an opportunity for the adult exercise of responsible choice."<sup>160</sup> She states that only within the context of a right to abortion and contraception does a woman finally enter into the realm of truly moral decisions. If laws regulating abortion make it impossible to make moral choices with regard to abortion then couldn't the same be said about laws regarding murder or theft? Is the immorality of murder and theft somehow

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup>Gilligan, 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup>Ibid., 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup>Ibid., 77.

diminished because there are laws prohibiting them? Does the absence of rights bind us to an amoral existence? And if the essence of moral decisions is choice, what kind of choice? What does responsibility mean in Gilligan's work? And if it is connected to social participation what about the possible responsibility to the foetus?

Gilligan concedes that violence is "destructive for everyone involved."<sup>161</sup> Then what of the violent nature of abortion? Are there categories of human beings against whom violence is not destructive? There must be otherwise why accept abortion as, in some instances, a means of growth?

In Gilligan's discussion of morality the notion of responsibility is meant to include responsibility for self as well as others. She tells us "that the morality of rights differs from the morality of responsibility in its emphasis on separation rather than connection, in its consideration of the individual rather than the relationship as primary."<sup>162</sup> Gilligan claims that "a morality of rights and noninterference may appear frightening...in its potential justification of indifference and unconcern."<sup>163</sup> A morality articulated through rights emphasises "a recognition of the rights of others as these are defined naturally or intrinsically [and] a human being's right to do as he pleases without interfering with somebody else's rights," whereas morality as responsibility is based on "a very strong sense of being responsible to the world." Moral decision making moves from the exercising of one's rights while keeping in mind the simultaneous

<sup>161</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 174.
 <sup>162</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 19.
 <sup>163</sup>Ibid., 22.

avoidance of interference in other's rights, to leading one's life in recognition of "obligations to myself and my family and people in general."<sup>164</sup>

Why are we responsible to one another? What reason do we have not to hurt one another? Gilligan answers that "life is seen as dependent on relationships,"<sup>165</sup> and that "self and other are interdependent and that life, however valuable in itself, can only be sustained by care in relationships."<sup>166</sup> The responsibility that Gilligan articulates also includes an affirmation of sometimes having to destroy life as the best of all possible decisions, for responsibility should never include self-sacrifice.<sup>167</sup> Gilligan informs us that "the notion that virtue for women lies in self-sacrifice has complicated the course of women's development by pitting the moral issue of goodness against the adult question of responsibility and choice."<sup>168</sup> Gilligan again speaks of abortion as the truly responsible decision and pregnancy is what allows her subject to "illuminate her previous failure to take responsibility."<sup>169</sup> Taking responsibility here means not blaming others and focusing on what one believes to be the best choice for oneself and for those around us, all things considered. If that means sacrificing the life of the unborn, for his own good, as well as for the good of oneself, then the decision is morally right. The decision

<sup>164</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 21.
<sup>165</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 126.
<sup>166</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 127.
<sup>167</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 129.
<sup>168</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 132.
<sup>169</sup>Ibid., 133.

maker is understood as the final measure for what is good and what is not. And though that measuring must take into account our interdependence, "we" alone decide to what extent our individual needs are to be subordinated to those with whom we interact.

In order properly to enact an ethic of care that has as its focus responsibility that itself "rests on the premise of non-violence—that no one should be hurt," there must also be present an ethic of justice, or rights, that "proceeds from the premise of equality—that everyone should be treated the same."<sup>170</sup> No one life should be treated as any more or less worthy of just consideration. But what of the responsibility to the life of the foetus? If the ethic of care rests on non-violence what of the violence in taking the life of the foetus? And if the ethic of justice rests on shared equality does not the life of the foetus merit consideration?

In discussions of abortion and its moral character one encounters discussions of such fundamental notions as: the personhood of the foetus; the moral status of the foetus; our responsibility to ourselves and to others. In contemporary analyses of moral action one is frequently confronted with such statements as: "killing is unacceptable because it violates one's right to life"; "stealing is unacceptable because it violates one's right to one's property"; "abortion is acceptable because it is the right of every person to regulate what will and will not be done to his or her body"; "abortion is unacceptable because it violates the foetus' right to life." The

<sup>170</sup>Ibid., 174.

difficulty with such statements is that they often do not tell us why it is wrong to violate the rights of others. Often we find that the assumption is that all human beings have certain rights, normally outlined in a state's constitution, and it is morally wrong to violate said rights. But why should we pay heed to these rights?

It was argued in the previous chapter that to speak of morally right action is to speak of action which is good and which allows the actor to grow in his or her full potential as a human being. Morally right action must also take into account the human potential of fellow human beings and may not impede their growth and the fulfilment of that human potential. With this in mind the question is: can a morality which tolerates and/or advocates harm to another human life be rightly called morality?

#### CHAPTER THREE

## THE MORAL IMPERMISSIBILITY OF ABORTION

In the preceding chapter arguments which attempt to justify the permissibility of abortion were outlined. This chapter will address some arguments which seek to justify the moral impermissibility of abortion. The authors being focused on are Germain Grisez, John Noonan, and Richard McCormick. There are several assumptions which underlie the position of these authors: one is that human life should be treated with dignity in all its stages; another is that the foetus, as a human being, must be treated with care and moral consideration; and finally that abortion in almost all cases, as the voluntary premature expulsion of human life from its life sustaining environment, is morally unacceptable.

# I. THE LIFE OF THE FOETUS AS A LEGITIMATE CRITERION FOR MORAL CONSIDERATION

John Noonan has written primarily on the legality of abortion, which is not the focus of this thesis. However, in order to articulate a coherent argument as to the legality of abortion there must be some understanding, vague though it may sometimes be, as to the moral character of abortion. In the previous chapter the notion that the

foetus has a right to life is either dismissed as invalid, or is accepted with the caveat that its right to life cannot be seen as equal to the many other rights of the mother. Noonan's assertions about the moral character of abortion tend to be generated from the assumption that the foetus, as a human being, has a right to life and should be treated with the same consideration that is given to "more mature human life."

In Noonan's estimation there are two questions which are central to "any morality for man."<sup>171</sup> One is the question as to what determines humanness and the second is the instance in which it might be lawful to kill.

Noonan argues that human beings throughout their history have gained a certain insight into themselves and through themselves into others. "Such is the insight into the connection between being human and being free."<sup>172</sup> Once human beings understood that "the determination of their own potential humanity can be injured by the domination of others, they insist on their freedom of action and thought."<sup>173</sup> Indeed as was noted earlier moral action can only occur in so far as the individual actor has the freedom to act. However, it is unworkable to pursue freedom "as a single absolute" because one individual's maximum freedom must embrace the license to dispose of other individuals. Therefore any community which is devoted to "freedom as a human good must move dynamically toward a balance where freedom

<sup>171</sup>John Noonan, "An Absolute Value in History" in <u>The Morality of</u> <u>Abortion</u> (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1970), 1.

<sup>172</sup>Ibid., 2.

173<u>Ibid.</u>

for one man is not achieved at the expense of freedom for another."174

In the context of abortion the idea that a woman should not be forced to carry a child to term is founded on the notion that she is the master of her own body and no one can impinge upon her freedom to do with it as she pleases. But if all human beings are free, and freedom is to be considered a human good, then how is it that this freedom does not apply to the unborn? In the previous chapter Michael Tooley is said to argue that the unborn, and even the newborn, though human are not persons. Only persons are holders of rights and only the freedom of persons should be respected and protected. Those who conceded that the unborn does possess certain rights, argue that its rights are outweighed by the mother's rights. Hence we come back to the earlier questions: "what determines when a being is human? [and] when can human freedom be vindicated by killing other human beings?"<sup>175</sup>

Noonan holds to the traditional Christian view that "if you are conceived by human parents, you are human."<sup>176</sup> In order to demonstrate the strength of this position Noonan contrasts it with contemporary inferences about human life and about when we are responsible to treat a being with the respect and dignity which is due her. First he

# 174<u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>175</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 2.

<sup>176</sup>Noonan examines the history of the Catholic stand on abortion. He starts with a look at the ancients and moves his way to what has become the present stand on abortion and more particularly the status of the unborn. He concedes that there have been times throughout the history of the church that abortion at the very early stages of fetal life was tolerated in some circumstances, but he also notes that even when tolerated it was warned that to abort even a potential human life was to be regarded with great reservation. <u>Ibid.</u>, 3-52 passim.

addresses the argument according to viability.<sup>177</sup> That is the idea that until the foetus is able to survive outside its mother's womb, it is not yet fully human because in so far as it is completely dependent on the mother it is perceived to be part of the mother and not a distinct being.<sup>178</sup> One manner of refuting this argument is to note the great advances in neo-natal care. It is conceivable that there will be a time when it will be possible to remove a newly fertilized ovum and place it in an artificial womb for the duration of its earliest development.<sup>179</sup> Thus viability becomes far too erratic a standard. Noonan warns: "If viability were the norm, the standard would vary with race and with many individual circumstances."<sup>180</sup>

Another objection to the viability argument is "that dependence is not ended by viability."<sup>181</sup> Human beings are dependent on others throughout their lives. A newly born baby is dependent on her mother, doctors, nurses and those who ensure that she gets enough food, shelter, and love. A young child does not cease to be dependent on his or her parents nor does a grown man or woman. We are dependent on our employers to pay our wages so we can eat and be housed. We are dependent on law enforcement agencies to provide us with at least a minimal amount of security from those who would rob us of our lives

<sup>180</sup>Noonan, "An absolute value in History," 52.

<sup>181</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup>Modern genetics will tell us that as soon as the ovum is fertilized a new and distinct being comes into existence with its very own genetic code. see Germain Grisez <u>Abortion: the Myths, the Realities and the</u> <u>Arguments</u> (New York: Corpus Books, 1972), 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup>Already the ability to save premature babies has moved from what was 24 weeks to 20 weeks.

and/or possessions. It could be contested that the viability argument has more to do with the unborn's dependence on its mother because only she can provide the "environment" necessary for her survival. And to this Noonan states "an adult stripped naked and placed on the North Pole suddenly becomes nonviable. Analogously, a foetus ripped from his mother's womb suffers a sudden loss of viability."<sup>182</sup> What Noonan is saying is that there may be a shift in dependence at viability, an "unsubstantial change", but this shift "does not seem to signify an special acquisition of humanity."<sup>183</sup>

Next Noonan addresses the argument according to experience. This argument holds that one is truly human only once one is able to experience life. In other words someone who has lived, experienced the joys and sorrows of life, and who has memories of these experiences is a person, whereas a being who has not had such experiences is not yet a person.<sup>184</sup> It might be recalled that this argument was presented by Michael Tooley, wherein simple experience is not enough to characterize human personhood. Rather one must have moved to the point at which one is aware of oneself as a subject of experiences. Only then can it be said that personhood has been achieved. In either case experience is an important defining factor of humanness and in either case the foetus is held to be sorely lacking.

To the first level of experience Noonan asserts that the "embryo is responsive to touch after eight weeks, and at least at that point is

<sup>183</sup>Idem, "An Absolute Value in History," 52.
<sup>184</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup>John T. Noonan Jr., "Raw Judicial Power," <u>National Review</u> 25 (1973): 262.

experiencing. At an earlier stage the zygote is certainly alive and responding to its environment."<sup>185</sup> Although Noonan does not directly respond to the assertion that human personhood is only achieved once one is conscious of oneself as a self-conscious self, he does warn that attributing humanness to the ability to hold memories can result in a disregard for certain individuals' humanity. He states that there are cases of aphasia in which all memory is erased even the most fundamental memories of self-awareness.<sup>186</sup>

A third distinction that Noonan addresses appeals to "the sentiments of adults" as a measure for the worth of the foetus.<sup>187</sup> The foetus is not worthy of consideration until that time at which the parents are able to feel his or her movements, or at that time when at his or her death the parents might actually grieve. Until at least the fourth month there would not be the same grief for the loss a the foetus nor can one feel his or her movements. Therefore, the foetus cannot be said to be worthy of consideration as a human person until the point at which the parents have experienced a physical sensation of his or her existence, or an emotional attachment.

To the above Noonan warns that not long ago, and still today, some people's feelings about those of different colour, religious faith, ethnic and cultural backgrounds, were not the same as feelings held for their own "kind". Yet it is agreed by most reasonable people that said feelings, or prejudices, were not and are not a justification for treating someone any less humanely than another. Did not the Nazi's

<sup>185</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 53. <sup>186</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>187</sup><u>Ibid.</u> claim that their victims, Jews, Gypsies and the handicapped, were less human than Germans?

Finally the notion of sociability and social recognition has been invoked in order to dismiss the humanness of the foetus. An important part of being human is being able to interact with others. Morality assumes that each individual's actions have implications for the individual and his or her neighbour. Therefore "excluded from the society of men, the foetus is excluded from the humanity of men."<sup>188</sup> Because the foetus cannot interact, and consequently is not a moral agent, he or she cannot be considered fully human and need not be treated with the same considerations that is due fully human beings.

Noonan responds to this by arguing that "if humanity depends on social recognition, individuals or whole groups may be dehumanized by being denied any status in their society."<sup>189</sup> The hermit is as human as the social butterfly. Hence, "humanity does not depend on social recognition, though often the failure of society to recognize the prisoner, the alien, the heterodox as human has led to the destruction of human beings."<sup>190</sup>

From the above Noonan concludes that

the positive argument for conception as the decisive moment of humanization is that at conception the new being receives the genetic code. It is this genetic information which determines his characteristics, which is the biological carrier of the possibility of human wisdom, which makes him a self-evolving being.

<sup>188</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 54. <sup>189</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>190</sup><u>Ibid.</u> A being with a human genetic code is a man.<sup>191</sup>

Resolving the inviolability of the foetus, according to Noonan, allows us to recognize that the foetus is a possessor of rights in the same manner that other human beings are possessors of rights, and as such he or she may not be eliminated at the whim of another. To say this is not to deny that there are circumstances in which two lives come into conflict and only one can be saved. But in the same way that extrauterine life should not be taken except in situations of self-defense, nor should intra-uterine life. According to Noonan to say that all human beings possess rights is synonymous to asserting, in a Christian sense, that all human beings including the foetus are deserving of love. In humanistic terms it may be understood as "do not injure your fellow man without reason."<sup>192</sup> In this context abortion is never to be permitted except in self-defense.

Noonan's aim, in part, is to provide reasons as to why the foetus should be understood as possessing human life. And though he presents a compelling argument for the foetus' right to life, one is left with the question: how does a right to life argument provide a justification for the moral impermissibility of abortion? What is it about human life that makes it impermissible to directly and voluntarily take it, in all but the most extreme cases? Certainly it must be more than the existence of one's right to life that make this the case?

<sup>191</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 57. <sup>192</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 58.

# II. ABORTION AS AN UNDERMINING OF A BASIC GOOD

Germain Grisez starts his discussion of the ethical character of abortion by outlining why abortion is an act which is morally relevant. His position is that abortion is an act which must be seen as morally wrong because it is the intentional and direct taking of a human life. He contends that it is wrong to pretend that the foetus is anything but a human person worthy of our respect. The foetus may not have the same capacities to be aware of her experiences, to reflect, and to articulate but this does not constitute sufficient criteria for dismissing her personhood. Grisez states:

> The potentiality of the human embryo is not simply for what it will become, but also for what it is. Human life is complete in its whole biography, and the whole meaning of what is earlier cannot be reduced to what comes later. The typical human adult is different from the baby, but not necessarily better, and the fullness of human life cannot be found in either the one condition or the other, but only in all the potentialities and fulfilments that constitute the process from the womb to the tomb.<sup>193</sup>

In asserting this Grisez is countering the notion that potential personhood should be distinguished from actual personhood. Arguing that a human being only achieves personhood once he or she has developed certain traits that are deemed characteristic of persons is making arbitrary assertions about the parameters of personhood.

> He asks should we treat all living human individuals as persons, or should we accept a concept of person that will exclude some who are in fact human, alive, and individuals, but who do not meet certain additional criteria we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup>Germain Grisez, <u>Abortion: The Myths, the Realities, and the</u> <u>Arguments</u> (New York: Corpus Books, 1970), 286.

incorporate in the idea of `person.'<sup>194</sup>

For example, Grisez warns that some criteria for personhood, "freedom, self-determination, rationality, the ability to choose either means or ends, and knowledged of its circumstances,"<sup>195</sup> not only excludes the foetus but it also excludes newly born infants, the gravely retarded, the insane, someone in a coma or sound asleep. Furthermore, these criteria leave the door open for the moral permissibility of euthanasia because in the cases stated above the individuals who have the misfortune of losing the appropriate person-granting qualities have "passed into a submoral state, outside the forum of conscience and beyond moral being."<sup>196</sup>

According to Grisez "the factual question has long since been settled by biology: a new human life begins at conception."<sup>197</sup> He states, "the sperm and the ovum, prior to fertilization, obviously can be considered as belonging to those from whom they derive. But once conception occurs a cell exists which cannot be identified with either parent."<sup>198</sup> Here there is a distinction between the unity of the fertilized ovum and the duality of the ovum alone and the sperm alone.<sup>199</sup> For whereas the unity of the fertilized ovum "is continuous with that which develops from it," that is the fertilized ovum is

<sup>194</sup>Grisez, <u>Abortion</u>, 273.

<sup>195</sup>These criteria are similar to those outlined by Tooley in the previous chapter.

<sup>1%</sup>As cited from Joseph Fletcher, <u>Morals and Medicine</u> (Boston: Beacon Press, 1954), 201.

<sup>197</sup>Grisez, <u>Abortion</u>, 284.

<sup>198</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 274.

••••

<sup>199</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 13-22 passim.

continuous with itself as it moves in becoming who it is, the duality of the "sperm and the ovum is continuous with the duality of the two parents."<sup>200</sup> Grisez claims that though biological fact is not enough to provide a sound philosophical argument as to the personhood of the foetus it is a factor in so far as it can enlighten us as to when, biologically speaking, individual human life begins.<sup>201</sup>

Grisez also rejects the argument that the personhood of the foetus only becomes apparent once the foetus has become "functionally human" which occurs after it has "been humanized in the human socialization process."<sup>202</sup> This manner of explaining humanness assumes that "human development is like the construction of an automobile, [that] becomes an automobile only at the end of the production line when someone can actually drive it."<sup>203</sup> Human beings possess a variety of potentialities that exist from the moment of conception, some of which might go un-actualized within one lifetime. Grisez sees human sociability not as a "passive reception by inert material," but active participation.<sup>204</sup> Human sociability does not happen to us, rather we actualize it in our constant interaction with others from the beginning of life to its end.

Finally Grisez argues that the fulfilment of our life potential

200<u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>201</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 274.

<sup>202</sup>Ibid., 277.

<sup>203</sup>Ibid., 278.

<sup>204</sup>"The individual himself is an active participant in the process, and although the ratio of passivity to activity is greater the younger one is, it is hard to see how socialization could ever begin at all if the one being socialized did not somehow actively participate even at the outset." <u>Ibid.</u>, 279. occurs through "self-actuation," and not by some "extrinsic agent bringing together already existing components."<sup>205</sup> Humanization occurs as a process of "give and take which has already begun when the embryo's effect upon the mother causes her to miss her menstrual period and learn of her new status."<sup>206</sup>

If we do decide that all living human individuals are persons, from conception to death, then it must also be conceded that the foetus is as much a subject of rights as an adult person, because "generally the person is considered a subject of rights, and once it is admitted that a person exists there will be a very broad consensus that he has at least a prima facie right to continued life, since this right is more fundamental than any other."<sup>207</sup> In considering life as a more fundamental right than any other one is implicitly ruling out the argument that a woman has a right to autonomy over her own body as a justification for abortion. In Grisez' words "if this is true the foetus' right to life obviously is more important than the woman's right to dispose of her own reproductive capacity."208 Grisez suggests there is no right that supersedes a person's right to life. He further explains that "an obligation on a pregnant woman to forego abortion no more infringes on her rights than an obligation to forego infanticide infringes on parental rights."209

Rights do not come without obligations and obligations are not

<sup>205</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>206</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>207</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 273.
<sup>208</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 287.
<sup>209</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

simply necessary requisites which force us to recognize that others have interests, similar to ours, which must be protected from those who would try and infringe upon them. Grisez states

> We have responsibilities to those who are dependent on us, and we can hardly claim a right to kill merely to free ourselves of the burden of putting up with and caring for our dependents. If they are *ours*, they are not ours to dispose of as we will; that is the difference between our property and our relatives. The former is an extension of ourselves, but the latter, being other persons, have some importance in themselves.<sup>200</sup>

Is Grisez stating that the immorality of abortion is judged based on the personhood and right to continued existence of the foetus? Or is he using the term rights as a means to articulate our moral obligations?

In order to answer the above we must turn to Grisez' discussion of morality. First he states that the beginning of every moral act is freedom,

> for whether or not we act to realize any particular possibility is a matter of our own choice. And where there is no choice, there is no morality, no question of right and wrong. We do not hold animals and infants responsible in the moral sense, because we do not see evidence of deliberation and self-determination.<sup>211</sup>

But freedom has several meanings. Freedom can mean "a lack of physical constraints;" it might mean "the absence of external social pressures and demands;" or "it can signify that state in which an individual is able to create his own [moral] life—and, in a real sense, his own

<sup>210</sup>Ibid.

<sup>211</sup>Ibid., 310.

self-through his choices."212

Of all of these different meanings of freedom the one which is most relevant to moral action is the freedom to make one's own choices. In the words of Grisez; "The freedom to determine oneself by one's own choices is the freedom most proper to a human being. It is the freedom with which ethics is most concerned."213 Grisez refers to the above stated freedom as "self-determination."<sup>214</sup> It is distinguished from the "ability to do as we choose (liberty)" and from the "independence of judging what we should do (autonomy)."<sup>215</sup> Self-determination is the conceiving and making of our own lives and selves through our own choices.<sup>216</sup> Self-determination implies that even taking into account external influences which can and do influence our choices "we retain at least some options of choosing or not choosing, of choosing one thing rather than another."<sup>217</sup> If there is no free choice to act then one's action cannot be said to be a moral act nor an immoral act. For example, a truck is coming straight at you and you instinctively jump out of the way. Here you are not acting either morally or immorally. But if in the same situation, having already decided that life is no longer worth living, you do not move, that is you choose to allow the truck to hit you, then your action has a moral character.

<sup>213</sup>Ibid. <sup>214</sup>Ibid., 6; idem, <u>Abortion</u>, 309. <sup>215</sup>Ibid., 309. <sup>216</sup>Idem, <u>Beyond the New Morality</u>, 6. <sup>217</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup>Germain Grisez and Russell Shaw, <u>Beyond the New Morality: The</u> <u>Responsibilities of Freedom</u> (Notre Dame, Indiana: University of Notre Dame Press, 1974), 1.

The moral character of an act is determined by a will or choice to act but also by the end to which that act is aimed. Grisez tells us; "that we act depends on our choice alone; what our act is, depends on our understanding of what we are doing, of what good gives meaning to our action."<sup>218</sup> Meaning can be found in all human actions. For example, an action that occurs at the level of physical freedom derives . its meaning in the consummation of the action. An action that occur as a result of our freedom to do as we please (resulting from our autonomy) derives its meaning from the particular goal which the action is meant to achieve. But action that is self-determining derives its meaning

> from a good in which one participates by performing the action...it comes from a purpose in which one participates precisely through performing the action. This purpose does not come at the end of or sometime after the action. Instead, it is present in the performance all along, at every stage. In this kind of action one realizes a good by participating in it.<sup>219</sup>

Grisez distinguishes between what he refers to as INSTRUMENTAL GOODS and BASIC GOODS. Instrumental goods are those goods which "need further reason to explain the interest people take in them."<sup>220</sup> But there are also actions which "need no further reason; these are goods,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup>"For example, as a reason for acting, winning a prize needs a further reason which motivates one to win. The further reason why one is interested in some further purpose, such as using the prize, showing that one has the necessary capabilities, and so on." Germain Grisez, Joseph Boyle, and John Finnis, "Practical Principles, Moral Truth, and Ultimate Ends" <u>The American Journal of Jurisprudence</u> 32 (1987): 103.

one or more of which underlie any purpose."<sup>221</sup> These goods are basic goods. How might we uncover which goods are basic and which are instrumental? Grisez claims that the most direct way of disclosing basic goods is "by considering actions and asking, `Why are you doing that?' and `Why should we do that?'"<sup>222</sup> These questions uncover a diversity of answers which for Grisez are "neither a mere contingent fact about human psychology nor an accident of history."<sup>223</sup> Basic goods are aspects of human fulfillment which "correspond to the inherent complexities of human nature, as it is manifested both in individuals and in various forms of community."<sup>224</sup> In other words there exist goods for human beings which are intrinsic to human fulfillment.<sup>225</sup>

Grisez lists what he refers to as fundamental basic goods, 226

<sup>221</sup>"One does finish deliberating and begin acting, and there cannot be an infinite regress in the goods which are reasons for acting." <u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>222</sup>Ibid., 107.

<sup>223</sup>Ibid.

<sup>224</sup>Ibid.

<sup>225</sup>"Theoretical studies of human persons, including empirical psychology and philosophical anthropology, uncover the natural inclinations. Some of these theories—for example, Freudian psychology, structuralist anthropology, behaviorism, dualistic philosophies of the person—are very inadequate. But the body of material taken as a whole testifies to natural inclinations to stay alive and healthy, to know, to do good work and to play, to get along with others, to be at peace with reality, and to get oneself together. Accepting the list of basic goods is supported by the data; rejecting it is at odds with the data..." <u>Ibid.</u>, 113.

2261) Life itself, physical and mental health and safety.2) Activities engaged in for their own sake including those which also

serve an ulterior purpose.

3) Experiences sought for their own sake.

4) Knowledge pursued for its own sake.

5) Interior integrity-harmony or peace among the various components of the self.

6) Genuineness-conformity between one's inner self and his outward

but for the purpose of this discussion it will suffice to note that "any list of basic human goods would have to include life itself."<sup>227</sup> Without life there can be no other goods to be sought. But each good is good not simply because of its individual intrinsic value but because it is connected to human fulfillment. "No single good, nothing that can be embraced in the object of any single choice, is sufficient to exhaust human good, to fulfil all of the possibilities open before man."<sup>228</sup> There is a unity of basic goods and no one good should be sacrificed in order to achieve another good, otherwise the first good is reduced to an instrumental good.<sup>229</sup>

Human beings are conscious of basic goods both by experience, that is an awareness of "our own inclinations and of what satisfies them,"<sup>230</sup> as well as by an ability to understand. Understanding allows us to "grasp in our inclinations the possibilities toward which they point." This Grisez calls theoretical reason. But understanding does not simply observe and conclude what might move us to action, also it is practical as it proposes "possibilities as goals toward which we

behaviour.

7) Justice and friendship-peace and cooperation among men. 8) Worship and holiness-the reconciliation of mankind to God. Grisez, <u>Abortion</u>, 313; Grisez, Boyle and Finnis, "Practical Principles, Moral Truth, and Ultimate Ends," 107-8.

<sup>227</sup>Grisez, Boyle and Finnis, 108.

<sup>228</sup>Grisez, <u>Abortion</u>, 315.

<sup>229</sup>Does this mean a woman should not be saved if saving her life would mean the death of her unborn child? Grisez addresses this issue in his discussion of the principle of double effect which will be elaborated in the following pages.

<sup>230</sup>Grisez, <u>Abortion</u>, 313.

might act."<sup>231</sup> This form of understanding Grisez refers to as practical reason. Practical reason informs us of what we ought to do. but it is not the same ought of moral obligation. Practical reason, says Grisez, "controls the whole area of free action by shaping it from within, rather than imposing rules from without."<sup>232</sup> Moral obligation. in so far as it is a form of ought, is part of what informs practical reason, "it is an inner requirement of practical reason." There are things we ought to do because it is non sensical to do otherwise. For example we ought to put our sox on before our shoes. But we are not morally obliged to do so. Whereas there are other oughts such as, we ought to refrain from intentionally taking a human life, that are moral obligations. Our understanding of such basic goods as life, knowledge, and health allow us to recognize that we have an obligation not to act against them. Basic goods are in this sense ideals which in their realization allow man to go beyond what he "already is toward that which he is not yet but still may be."233

Grisez tells us that basic human goods illuminate our choices but they "cannot determine themselves why some choices are morally good and others morally evil."<sup>234</sup> What it is then that distinguishes between moral good and moral evil. Grisez answers that "moral good and moral

<sup>232</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>233</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>234</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 315.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup>We understand, prior to any choice or reasoning effort, that the basic human goods are possible purposes for our action. To the extent that any action requires some purpose, the basic goods present themselves as purposes to-be-realized, not merely as objective possibilities. We understand the preservation of our own lives, the pursuit of knowledge, the cultivation of friendship and the rest as goods-to-be-sought by us. <u>Ibid.</u>, 314.

evil depend upon the attitude with which we choose."<sup>235</sup> This is not to say that any choice that is made with the right attitude is morally good, for as Grisez points out there are "some choices [that] cannot be made with the right attitude."<sup>236</sup> The right attitude, for Grisez, must conform fully with reality. He argues that "to choose a particular good with an appreciation of its genuine but limited possibility and its objectively human character is to choose it with an attitude of realism."237 We do not measure one good relative to another, for that would be to elevate one good above the other. But we may choose one particular good and in the process, unwillingly undermine another.<sup>238</sup> Basic goods must be understood as "diverse participation in a unity beyond all of them," or otherwise "be unified by reference to one another."<sup>239</sup> For one good to be a reference for the meaning of another good risks intentionally undermining one good for the sake of another. "However if we accept the reference of our conception of goodness to a reality we do not yet understand, our openness to that goodness may count as love of it, although it is not an intelligible objective of any particular action."<sup>240</sup> In religious terms we might understand this

<sup>235</sup>Ibid.

<sup>237</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>238</sup><u>Ibid.</u> <sup>239</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 317. <sup>240</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup>For example, one might think that killing someone who is suffering is the kindest thing to do, and one's intentions might be most genuinely to provide comfort and caring for this person, yet all the good intentions in the world cannot nullify the immorality of the act of taking that persons life. <u>Ibid.</u>

as a love of God.<sup>241</sup>

A morally right attitude, then, attempts to take into consideration all basic goods without intentionally subverting one for the sake of another and recognizes that basic goods are goods in so far as they are good in and of themselves as well as participating in a greater Good. "A right attitude does not seek to subvert some principles of practical reason by an appeal to others."<sup>242</sup> The next question that comes to mind, says Grisez, is "how a morally right attitude can shape itself into specific obligations,"<sup>243</sup> and actions.

If we return to Grisez' initial premise, that we determine ourselves as human beings through our actions, and keep in mind what has been discussed in relation to basic goods for man, one might conclude that by acting on a basic human good, while not willingly or intentionally undermining any of the other basic human goods, one is acting morally.

Being able to recognize basic goods does not guaranty one's ability to act with them in mind. Grisez says,

Ideally, the moral discernment of specific moral obligations would require neither calculation nor even reflection. If one's moral attitude were right and his whole personality were perfectly integrated with that moral attitude, then his own sense of appropriateness, his own spontaneous judgements, would be the surest index of moral good and evil...However when we have a moral question, obviously our moral sensibility has failed us. At this point it is useless to say: 'Act by your own right will,' because the question would never have arisen but for the

<sup>241</sup>And if the goodness in question is identified with God, respect and openness to all human goods may be interpreted as man's fulfillment by participation in a good which first belongs to God. <u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>242</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 316. <sup>243</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 317.

## conflict within ourselves.244

Grisez has adopted an Aristotelian notion of moral action, in so far as he recognizes that it is not enough to know what is right or wrong but one must be habituated toward acting in such a way that the action achieves what is immediately as well as ultimately good.

Having the right moral attitude means having a truly realistic awareness of human goods. Such an attitude would prompt us always to act with human goods in mind and never act directly in opposition to any basic good. As Grisez warns, "to act against a basic good is to subordinate that good to whatever leads us to choose such a course of action."<sup>245</sup> In doing so "we treat an end as if it were a means; we treat an aspect of the person as if it were an object of measurable and calculable worth."<sup>246</sup> Grisez suggests that it is possible to interfere with a basic good while seeking to fulfil another basic good, as it is "one thing for inhibition or interference with other goods to occur as unsought but unavoidable side-effects of an effort to pursue a good, and it is quite another thing directly to choose to inhibit or destroy a realization of a basic human good."<sup>247</sup> Within the context of morality which Grisez presents the former would not be considered an immoral action whereas the latter would be.

Here we will turn to Grisez' conclusions about the moral character of abortion. It may be recalled that Grisez notes that if we do not agree on what specifically are the basic goods we must at least

<sup>244</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>245</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 319.
<sup>246</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>247</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

agree that the preservation of human life is such a good, for without life no other human good is possible. Grisez asserts,

> human life is a basic good and it is intrinsic to the person, not extrinsic as property is. To choose directly to destroy a human life is to turn against this fundamental human good. We can make such a choice only by regarding life as a measurable value, one that can be compared to other values and calculable to be of less worth. To attempt such a rationalization is to reduce an end to the status of mere means. Whatever good is achieved by such a means could not have been chosen except by a pretence that the good of the life which is destroyed is not really an irreplaceable human possibility. Undoubtedly, it is for this reason that those who seek to justify abortion and other direct attacks on human life strive to deny the humanity and/or personality of the intended victims.

In Grisez' estimation a foetus is a human person whose goods are to be respected and cherished as any extra-uterine person. Hence it must be concluded that abortion, in most instances, is an immoral act in so far as it is the killing of a human person, and therefore a direct assault on a basic good.

According to Grisez there are some circumstances under which interfering with a good is not morally wrong. As was mentioned above he argues that there are situations in which, while trying to safeguard and promote one good, another good may be harmed unintentionally. This is, however, quite different from the intentional interference with one good to promote another. He warns us that "we must maintain that the end which rationalizes the means cannot justify the means when the means in question involves turning against a good equally basic, equally an end, equally a principle of rational action as the good consequence sought to be achieved."<sup>249</sup> Despite one's intentions to seek to prevent suffering and promote a basic good, to undermine an equally basic good to accomplish the promotion of another is to use a basic good as a means. This in turn potentially subverts all goods because at one point or another one may find reason to undermine any single basic good or all.

÷

For Grisez intention behind an action and the action itself are inseparable with regard to morality. To act evilly while intending to promote a good cannot be deemed morally permissible. On the other hand if the evil that occurs is not directly a result of an act that serves to promote a basic good then the end is regarded as an evil but not the act. Grisez explains,

> there is an important distinction to be made among operations done on pregnant women that result in the death of the unborn. Some kill the unborn individual as a means to an ulterior end; others directly result in a benefit to the mother's health and only incidentally kill the unborn child.<sup>250</sup>

He goes on to explain that if a woman decides that she does not want her baby for reasons of financial constraints, interference with her career, embarrassment, the ultimatum of her spouse or boyfriend, or any other reason, and she proceeds to get rid of the unwanted pregnancy, "then this is killing as a means to an end. Such action goes directly against the fundamental good of human life itself and is morally wrong for that reason."<sup>251</sup>

If, however, a woman is in a life threatening situation, for

<sup>249</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 319.
<sup>250</sup>Idem, <u>Beyond the New Morality</u>, 143.
<sup>251</sup>Ibid.

example she has a cancerous uterus that must be removed, it is morally acceptable to perform the procedure necessary that may result in the death of the unborn child who has not matured enough to survive outside the mother's body. Grisez states that "this procedure is not properly called an abortion, nor need it be regarded as morally wrong."<sup>252</sup> Here Grisez places an emphasis on the intention of the act. The intent in the above case is to save the life of the mother and the death of the child is incidental, albeit unfortunate. One might argue, as Thompson and Overall do, that in most instances the intent behind abortion is to cease being pregnant and not the killing of the offspring. The death of the offspring is unfortunate, but until technology advances enough so as to be able to preserve the life of the unborn upon removal from the uterus, it is an ill-fated side effect not an intended end.

When Grisez speaks of intention he "means to foresee, more even than willing a cause. To intend something is either to aim at it as at one's precise purpose in acting or to embrace it for its positive contribution to the achievement of that purpose."<sup>253</sup> He further argues that we do not intend side effects. For example in although a dentist he knows that the procedures he performs are painful they are not done for the purpose of causing pain. In the case of those life saving procedures performed on the mother which result in the death of the unborn, they are done to save the life of the mother not to kill the unborn. Though "we bring them upon", that is the evil results, "we do not intend them."<sup>254</sup> Grisez's notion of intent is distinct from

<sup>252</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 144.
<sup>253</sup>Idem, <u>Abortion</u>, 327.
<sup>254</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 328.

2

ţ

Thomson's and Overall's in that for Grisez what must be at stake is a basic good whereas with Thomson and Overall a basic good is being undermined for the sake of convenience.

Also included in Grisez's assertions on the moral character of abortion is a reinterpretation of the principle of double effect. He explains that "one may perform an act having two effects, one good and the other bad. if four conditions are fulfilled simultaneously."<sup>255</sup> Briefly those conditions are: the act may not be wrong in itself; the intent of the actor must be right; the evil effect may not be a means to the good end; and there must be a proportionately grave reason for performing the act.<sup>256</sup> Hence if a woman is suffering from cervical cancer and the operation performed to save her life requires the removal of her uterus, that is housing her child, the act is not morally wrong because the four above stated conditions are present. The act is not wrong in itself for it is not wrong to remove an unhealthy organ; the intent is not to kill but rather to save a life; the evil effect is not a means to saving the life of the mother but an unfortunate result of the means which is the removal of the uterus; the reason is proportionately grave in so far as the mother's life is at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup>"1) The act must be wrong in itself, even apart from consideration of the bad effects. (Thus one does not use the principle to deal with the good and bad effects of an act that is admittedly murder.)
2) The agent's intention must be right. (Thus if one aims precisely at death, the deadly deed cannot be justified by the principle.)
3) The evil effect must not be the means to the good effect, for then evil will fall within the scope of one's intention, and evil may not be intended even for the sake of an ulterior good purpose. (Thus it is certainly wrong to kill someone in order to inherit his wealth.)
4) There must be a proportionately grave reason for doing such an act, since there is a general obligation to avoid evil so far as possible. (Thus one may not use poison deadly to children to kill rodents in a public park.)" Ibid., 329.

risk.

Grisez believes, however, that "the principle of double effect in its modern formulation is too restrictive insofar as it demands that even in the order of physical causality the evil aspect of the act not precede the good."<sup>257</sup> The above stated theory provides for a justification of the death of the unborn in cases of ectopic pregnancies or cancer but in situations where carrying the unborn child to term will kill the mother by placing excessive pressure on her heart or kidneys the act of removing the child would be seen as an immoral act. Grisez attempts to correct what he believes to be a problematic aspect of the modern formulation of the principle of double effect. He argues that "the behavioural aspect of the act is not morally determinate apart from the meaning that shapes the human act."<sup>258</sup> If an act has both a good and bad aspect the bad aspect could not fall within the realm of intention.<sup>259</sup>

In those instances where the only way to save the life of the mother is to remove the foetus from the mothers womb thereby killing the foetus the act is not abortion per se. He argues that the intention

<sup>259</sup>"From the point of view of human moral activity, the initiation of an indivisible process through one's own causality renders all that is involved in that process equally immediate. So long as no other human act intervenes or could intervene, the meaning (intention) of the behaviour which initiates such a process no less immediate to what is, from the point of view of physical causality, a proximate effect or a secondary or remote consequence. For on the hypothesis that no other human act intervenes or could intervene, the moral agent who posits a natural cause simultaneously (morally speaking) posits its foreseen effects. The fact that not everything in the behaviour is relevant to the diverse physical dispositions of the elements of the behavioural aspect of the act, but from the diverse dispositions of the agent's intention with regard to the intelligible aspects of the act." <u>Ibid.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup>Ibid., 333.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup>Ibi<u>d</u>.

is not the death of the offspring but the saving of the mother. In instances where the mother could otherwise sustain the pregnancy and does not want to undergo the nine months of strain on her body, finances and life, so she has the child removed from her uterus thereby killing it, the act is indeed abortion and is morally wrong. In one case the act is to preserve a basic good, in the other it is a subordination of a basic good to a desire or convenience. Short of a threat of death Grisez sees no justification for abortion as a morally permissible act. "One does not sacrifice life for health since the latter is only a partial aspect of the former."<sup>260</sup>

Finally, although he has great sympathy for women who do not wish to carry to term a child of rape or incest he asserts that abortion in such a case would no more be morally right than in the above situation of convenience. He states

> the victim of rape has been violated and has a good reason to resent it. Yet the unborn infant is not the attacker. It is hers as much as his. She does not wish to bear it—an understandable emotional reaction. But really at stake is only such trouble, risk and inconvenience as is attendant on any pregnancy. To kill the baby for the sake of such goods reveals an attitude toward human life that is not in keeping with its inherently immeasurable dignity. One of the simple modes of obligations is violated—that which requires us to do good to another when we can and there is no serious reason not to do it.

His conclusion is that it is fitting and correct to assert that abortion is murder in those cases where it is a direct attack on human life. "To reject this classification of the act is itself a merely

<sup>260</sup>Ibid., 341.

:

<sup>261</sup>Ibid., 343.

emotional reaction, an attempt to sanctify evil by removing its bad name."  $^{262}\,$ 

### III. MORALITY, ABORTION AND COMMUNITY

÷

Richard McCormick, like Grisez, believes that human life is a basic good. As such it is "the condition of all other experiences and achievements"<sup>263</sup> and "the foundation for the enjoyment of other goods and rights [and] should be taken only when doing so is the lesser of two evils, all things considered."<sup>264</sup> Grisez argues that though health and psychological well being are goods they are not goods that supersede the basic good that is life.<sup>265</sup> McCormick asserts that in order for an action "to qualify as a lesser of two evils there is required, among other things, that there be at stake a human life or its moral equivalent."<sup>266</sup> By a moral equivalent McCormick means "a good or value that is, in Christian assessment, comparable to life itself."<sup>267</sup>

McCormick confesses to espousing what he refers to as "the classical Christian moral position."<sup>268</sup> There are three statements which he uses to expand this position and they are as follows. First, he argues that "human life as a basic gift and good, the foundation for

<sup>262</sup>Ibid., 345.

<sup>264</sup>Idem, <u>How Brave a New World?</u>, 168.
<sup>265</sup>Grisez, <u>Abortion</u>, 343.

<sup>266</sup>McCormick, <u>How Brave a New World</u>, 168.

<sup>267</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 168.

<sup>268</sup>Ibid., 194.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup>Richard McCormick, "Abortion: A Middle Ground?," <u>Second Opinion</u> 10 (March 1989): 43.

the enjoyment of all other goods, may be taken only when doing so is the only life saving and life serving alternative, or only when doing so is, all things considered (not just numbers), the lesser evil." He explains that he uses the term human life rather than person because the term person tends to "muddy the moral discussion."

In McCormick's estimation the argument around the personhood of the foetus is not appropriate because "the definition of person is often elaborated with a purpose in mind. One defines personhood and then grants or does not grant personhood according to what one wants to do or thinks it acceptable to do with non persons."<sup>269</sup> It is this circularity in the definitions of personhood which makes them inappropriate foundations for a conclusion as to the moral character of abortion. McCormick asserts that personhood is nothing more than "a code word for a self transcending, trans-empirical reality."<sup>270</sup> He further claims that self-transcendence is not a part of an organism [but] it is the organism as oriented to its self-transcending matrix."<sup>271</sup>

McCormick then addresses the life-saving and life-serving natures of an act and states that though an act is life-saving it may not be life-serving. Consider the following scenario. Four people are trapped in a life raft in the middle of the ocean with only enough food and water to keep three of the four people alive. Some might argue that the solution would be to throw one person overboard. After all it is better to lose one life and save three than to lose all four. Although one may

<sup>269</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 191 <sup>270</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 194. <sup>271</sup><u>Ibid.</u> be helping to prolong three lives one is also undermining the good that is another human being and this would not be life-serving.<sup>272</sup> On the other hand McCormick does see circumstances in which the giving up of a human life can be both life-saving and life-serving. If, going back to our four stranded sailors, one chose to give his life to save his companions his act would be considered both life saving and life serving. Life saving because lives are saved from death, and life serving because part of fulfilling a truly human<sup>273</sup> life is being willing to give up what is most precious to oneself for the good of others.

Second, by human life McCormick is referring to "human life from conception or at least from the time at or after which it is settled whether there will be one or two human beings."<sup>274</sup> Though there is much doubt and argument as to the humanity of the foetus at his/her earliest stage, McCormick warns that doubt is not conclusion. He states "there are phenomena in the pre-implantation period that generate evaluative doubts about the claims the foetus at this stage makes, at least in some cases."<sup>275</sup> Here he refers to twinning, the number of spontaneous abortions, chimeras (the possible recombination of two fertilized ova into one). These incidents, however, "create problems doubts only."<sup>276</sup> When the first test tube baby was born the language

<sup>273</sup>and Christian

<sup>274</sup>McCormick, <u>How Brave A New World?</u>, 194.

<sup>275</sup>Ibid.

276 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup>This argument about using human beings as means to an end is utilitarian in origin and has been discussed in previous pages of this chapter.

was specific, she was called a test tube baby not a test tube tissue. McCormick argues that "the answer to the question `where did Louise Brown begin?'is clearly: In the petri dish, if baby means anything."<sup>277</sup> Life for Louis Brown began in the petri dish where ovum met sperm.

Third, in order for a life-saving and life-serving act to be considered the lesser of two evils, all things considered, "there must be at stake human life or its moral equivalent, a good or value comparable to life itself."<sup>278</sup> By moral equivalent of a human life McCormick refers "to a good or value that is, in Christian assessment, comparable to life itself."<sup>279</sup> Any assessment of a good or value that is comparable to life itself must be "interpreted in a way consistent with our assessment of the values justifying the taking of extrauterine life."<sup>280</sup> In other words, like the life of adults, teenagers, children and infants, nascent life places certain moral claims on us.

A classical Christian moral position accepts that the taking of a human life is morally acceptable under certain circumstances. For example in the cases of just war and self-defence. McCormick attempts to point out that though human life is a basic good we sometimes risk our lives for the sake of other, sometimes lesser, goods. "For instance if human beings may go to war and take human life to defend their freedom (political autonomy) against an enemy who would strip them of

<sup>277</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 195.
 <sup>278</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
 <sup>279</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 168.
 <sup>280</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 149.

it, something is being said about human freedom compared with life."<sup>281</sup> McCormick goes on to state that he is familiar with cases in which the "failure to terminate a pregnancy has resulted in the permanent loss of freedom for the mother (insanity)."<sup>282</sup> Should one assume that a risk to mental health is a justification for abortion in certain circumstances? Are there just reasons to subordinate a basic good to another, perhaps less basic, good? McCormick reminds us

> We die for our freedom, do we not? Give me liberty or give me death, resonates with all of us, though there are still some who would rather be `red than dead'—but, I suspect, because they think they will really have their liberty after all.<sup>283</sup>

As has been demonstrated McCormick believes that there exists circumstances in which it is permissible to take human life. But these circumstances must meet certain conditions.<sup>284</sup> He is arguing that in everyday life we make choices about goods which theoretically are incommensurable. He states "I realize that life and liberty cannot be compared, as apples and oranges cannot. But in daily life we somehow manage to parse this incommensurability in many areas."<sup>285</sup> For example, we choose to have a dangerous operation while knowing that though it may prolong our life it could as easily extinguish it. McCormick is thus concluding that although life is a basic human good it is not an absolute good which is to be preserved at "any" cost.

<sup>281</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 195.
<sup>282</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>283</sup>Ibid., 196.

<sup>284</sup>see pages 103-106 of this chapter.

<sup>285</sup> McCormick, How Brave a New World?, 195.

In reflecting on McCormick's writings on abortion one observes that his conclusions as to the moral character of abortion emerge from conclusions as to the moral character of taking human life. What. then, is it about human beings that, for McCormick, makes it immoral to take human life, outside the above mentioned conditions, at any stage? First, McCormick shares a Christian interpretation of human nature. That is McCormick believes that human life and human happiness must be understood in terms of a temporal and an eternal reality.<sup>286</sup> He tells us that a Christian morality is informed by a tradition which sees human beings as "in relationship with God."287 Human beings are to be treated with a dignity that transcends their real or perceived utility and quantitative value. Human dignity arises out of the relationship of human beings to God. McCormick cites Helmut Thielicke who tells us that man's own worth, that is his "value for producing goods, his functional proficiency, pragmatic utility," does not give him his dignity, it is "rather what God has spent upon him, the sacrificial love which God has invested in him."<sup>288</sup> This dignity Thielicke refers to as "alien dignity." McCormick is in agreement with Thielicke that human dignity actualizes itself at the point at which man's value becomes debatable, "the point where his functional value is no longer listed on society's

<sup>287</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 10.

288 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup>"The Judeo-Christian tradition... is an outlook on the human, a community of privileged access to the human...[it] is anchored in faith in the meaning and decisive significance of God's covenant with men, especially as manifested finally in the saving incarnation of Jesus Christ and the revelation of his final coming, his eschatological kingdom that is here aborning but will finally only be given." <u>Ibid.</u>, 9.

stock market and he is perhaps declared to be unfit to live."<sup>289</sup> According to McCormick this position contrasts with the "tendency to assess persons functionally, to weaken our hold on the basic value that is human life."<sup>290</sup> In the absence of a true human dignity there appears to be a greater proclivity of a "technologically advanced culture" to treat human beings functionally.<sup>291</sup> An example of this is the manner in which the elderly are often treated. They are seen as a burden by most, unable to care for themselves or contribute (materially through the market place) to society, and consequently are alienated. They no longer have a function in society, hence they are no longer deserving of respect and care.

A Christian tradition, McCormick tells us, is not to be understood as a substitute for one's conscience. We are all responsible for making our own choices. What a Christian tradition does is "insist that there is an ethic of means, because you deal with someone who is of more value than the sum of his—or her—parts, someone who is an end value in all human decisions."<sup>292</sup>

Morally right action, understood in the context of a Christian tradition, is action that presupposes every human being's dignity. In so far as all human beings possess an alien dignity their worth exceeds their ability to be a means to the end of others and of society as a whole. Human beings must never be treated as a means, and any act that includes the use of another person as a means to an end, no matter how

<sup>289</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>290</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 11.
<sup>291</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>292</sup>Ibid.

good the end is believed to be, is a morally wrong act.

Another aspect of moral action is its intersubjective nature. McCormick tells us that "true moral insight is mediated to the individual through participation in the community."<sup>293</sup> A Christian's life is a life of sharing because "we cannot exist as Christians except in a community."<sup>294</sup> This means that one's freedom to fulfil one's "potentialities as a person is conditioned by the authenticity of the other members of the community, and vice versa."295 McCormick rejects the view that individual and community "are separable and competing values" and contends that they are "coimplicating and interpenetrating...as two inseparable complementarities. It is not a question of individual versus community as if they were atomized."296 Nor is it a question of a "community that totally subordinates" the individual to it. We are responsible for taking into account the goods and interests of others when we are defining our own prerogatives and rights, but we are not expected to do so at the expense of our own dignity.<sup>297</sup> An individual cannot be used as the means for the good of community. Therefore a conception of community must take into account the integrity of its symbiotic relationship with each individual, and each individual's actions must be seen in light of its impact on his or her own life as well as its impact on community as a whole. With this McCormick rejects the notion of a so called "private morality."

<sup>293</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 13.
<sup>294</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>295</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 12.
<sup>296</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 13.
<sup>297</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

Let us return to the issue of abortion. For McCormick abortion "is a killing act."<sup>298</sup> Some may wish to employ such terms as "procedure" or "emptying of the uterus" but this does not change the fact that the premature removal of the foetus from the uterus results in the death of the foetus.<sup>299</sup> If abortion is the killing of the foetus, who in turn exists as a human being from conception, then abortion is a morally wrong act. However, McCormick in conceding that the taking of human life in circumstances in which doing so is the only "life-saving and life-serving" option and the lesser of two evils all things considered, is laying the foundation for the possibility of the conditional moral acceptability of abortion.

Like Grisez, McCormick addresses abortion, in some instances, as an indirectly voluntary evil rather than a directly voluntary attack on human life. The distinction between directly voluntary and indirectly voluntary acts, says McCormick, is used to face practical "conflict situations where evil can be avoided or a more or less necessary good achieved only when another evil is reluctantly caused."<sup>300</sup> McCormick's interpretation of what constitutes indirectly and directly voluntary acts differs from Grisez's. McCormick agrees with Grisez that one should never turn away from a basic good and McCormick also concurs with the notion of an indivisible process. He states, "if the evil effect or aspect occurs within an indivisible process, the moral agent who posits a natural cause simultaneously (morally speaking) posits its

<sup>299</sup>Ibid.

<sup>300</sup>Richard McCormick, <u>Ambiguity in Moral Choice</u> (Milwaukee, Wisconsin: Marquette University Press, 1977), 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup>Idem, "Abortion: A Middle Ground?," 43.

foreseen effect." In other words the evil effect is not a means to the good effect.<sup>301</sup> McCormick asserts that "Grisez provides a satisfying account of the origin of moral obligation with his analysis of basic human goods." But he goes on to accuse Grisez of falling short of the mark by not discussing the notion of proportionate reason. He claims that Grisez' interpretation "of what it means to turn directly against these basic human goods seems too contrived and incapable of accounting for the complexity of reality." Grisez' shortcoming is the result of "his reluctance to examine more realistically the notion of proportionate reason, a reluctance rooted in his nervous fear of any utilitarian calculus."<sup>302</sup> The following are six statements that encapsulate McCormick's tentative conclusions with regards to the principle of voluntary and involuntary evil.

1. There is a difference between an intending and permitting will, and therefore in the human action involving the one or the other. 2. In a conflict situation, the relation of evil to the value sought is partially determinative of the posture of the will (whether intending or permitting). 3. The basic structure, however, in conflict situations is avoidable/unavoidable evil, the principle of the lesser evil. 4. Both the intending and the permitting will (where evil is involved) are to be judged teleologically (that is, by presence or absence of proportionate reason). 5. Proportionate reason means three things: (a) a value at stake at least equal to that sacrificed; (b) no other way of salvaging it here and now; (c) its protection here and now

<sup>301</sup>Richard McCormick, "Ambiguity in Moral Choice" in <u>Doing Evil to</u> <u>Achieve Good</u> Richard McCormick and Paul Ramsey ed. (Chicago: Loyola University Press, 1978), 26.

<sup>302</sup>McCormick believes that some form of calculus is unavoidable when examining moral choices. However, he does not adhere to a utilitarian calculus. In his discussion of proportionate reason he elaborates a teleological calculus. <u>Ibid.</u>, 34. will not undermine it in the long run. 6. The notion of proportionate reason is analogous.<sup>333</sup>

Briefly the above means that there is a distinction between intending to cause an evil and actually permitting an evil to occur while attempting to facilitate a good.<sup>304</sup> Hence if, for example, an abortion is required as the only way to save the life of the mother, and under no circumstances can the foetus be saved (ectopic pregnancy) then the abortion is permitted so as to allow the mother to live. In contrast, if a woman decides to have an abortion because she does not want any children then the abortion is not merely permitted but is intended. In the first instance abortion is not intended for its own sake but is permitted for the sake of a lesser of two evils, the loss of one life rather than two. In the second example abortion is intended as an end in itself.

In order to distinguish between an intending and a permitting will McCormick, following Grisez' lead, examines them within the context of the use of evil as a means to an end. When evil is a means to an end, good or bad, it is an intending will for evil itself.<sup>305</sup> But how do we know when an action is a means to a good end? Again

<sup>305</sup>Ibid., 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup>Ibid., 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup>McCormick proposes that perhaps an intending will is "more closely associated with the existence of evil" than the permitting will. Ibid, p.36 However he later maintains the obscurity of such an assumption. "If someone is ready to bring the good into existence only by permitting the evil, it has been suggested that he is less willing that the evil exist. Yet it must be said that he is also less willing that the good exist. Furthermore the person who is prepared to realize the good even by intending the evil is more willing that the evil exist, but only because he is more willing that the good exist." Hence the argument that the permitting will is less closely associated with evil is "circular". <u>Ibid.</u>, 43.

McCormick accepts Grisez' criterion stating that "if evil occurs within an indivisible process, then in the moral sense it is equally immediate with the good effect, and hence not a means."<sup>306</sup>

The notion of double effect arises out of a belief that there are certain goods that are desirable, legitimate and necessary and that sometimes these goods are inseparable from evil circumstances.<sup>307</sup> So long as the intention is to achieve a good proportionate to the one taken then the intending of an evil is judged against the intending of the good. Here McCormick says that "if there is a truly proportionate reason for acting, the agent remains properly open and disposed toward the ordo bonorum whether the evil occurs as an indivisible effect or as a means within the action."<sup>308</sup> He warns that evil-as-means and what is evil-as-effect are corporally distinct, and therefore, "what is sufficient for allowing an evil may not be sufficient for choosing it as a means."<sup>309</sup> As alluded to above McCormick disagrees with Grisez that proportionate reason leads to a utilitarian calculus, though he does not deny that in addressing moral choices it is sometimes necessary to incorporate some form of calculation in order to ensure that at least some good can be salvaged out of what might otherwise be a wholly destructive situation. He states that "the end does not justify the means, but the ends do." By this McCormick means that "before an adequate assessment of an act be made, its effects on all

<sup>306</sup>Example; ectopic pregnancy. <u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>307</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 39.
<sup>308</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 40.
<sup>309</sup><u>Ibid.</u>

the ends or values must be made."<sup>310</sup> Therefore depending on the calculable goods accrued by a particular act there will be some situations in which proportionate reason will permit an act as morally acceptable, whereas this same act under different circumstances may be judged as morally unacceptable.

The existence of a distinction between an intending and a permitting will where premoral evil is concerned should be regarded teleologically.<sup>311</sup> In other words in so far as there is proportionate reason to act in a manner that will result or cause an evil then the initial act is morally acceptable. The presence or absence of proportionate reason, or the teleological foundation for an action, are key for McCormick. It will be recalled that proportionate reason carries with it the assumptions that; there is at stake a value equal to or greater than the one being sacrificed; that in the here and now this is the least destructive manner of protecting the value; and there will be no foreseeable long term corruption of the value by the means of its protection.<sup>312</sup> By contrast "an action is disproportionate...if a lesser value is preferred to a more important one, if evil is necessarily caused in the protection of a greater good, [or] if in the circumstances, the manner of protecting the good will undermine it in the long run."<sup>313</sup> The distinction between direct and indirect evil lies in the presence or absence of proportionate reason as described above.

<sup>310</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 44. <sup>311</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 41. <sup>312</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 45. <sup>313</sup>Ibid.

## Finally McCormick explains that

the criterion of proportionality is that ordo bonorum viewed in the Christian perspective, for it is the ordo bonorum that is determinative of the good one should attempt to do and the criterion of the objectively loving character of one's activity.<sup>314</sup>

He notes three aspects of proportionate reason in view of *ordo bonorum*. First there is the instance where permitting the evil is the only option short of causing a greater evil. For example in the case of ectopic pregnancy there is no way of saving the foetus, no matter what is done the foetus will die; however one can save the life of the mother. According to McCormick it would be immoral to continue the pregnancy knowing that there is no possible way that one's sacrifice can result in anything other than the death of both mother and child.<sup>315</sup>

Second, in a distinct situation proportionate reason may be realized when I lay down my life for that of another. For example when a woman refuses therapy to cure her cancer because it would harm or kill her unborn child, who would otherwise be unharmed. McCormick suggests that

> this is not proportionate because [one] life is preferable to [another]—they are equally valuable as basic human goods—but because in case of conflict, it is a human and Christian good to seek to secure this good for my

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup>Ibid., 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup>"Love (as involving, besides *benevolentia*, also *beneficencia*) is always controlled by the possible. There is no genuine *beneficencia* if no good can accrue to the individual through my sacrifice. An act of love (as *beneficencia*) is not measured by the mere intention (*benevolentia*)." Hence in instances such as ectopic pregnancies abortion is a "proportionately grounded" decision because the evil of the death of the fetus cannot be avoided but the harm or death to the mother can. <u>Ibid.</u>

neighbour even at the cost of my life."316

To say that self-sacrifice for the sake of another is morally acceptable implies that goods being weighed can include more than physical human life. It suggests that we live in a world of conflict, where we are "not mature in charity", and that maturing choices in a world of conflict and sin are often "those which prefer the good of another to self after the example of Christ."<sup>317</sup>

Third, though it is morally right to give up one's own good or life for the sake of the good or life of another, it is not absolutely demanded. In other words "there is a proportionate reason for not aiding my neighbour in his distress or need."<sup>318</sup> Caritas non obligat cum gravi incommodo. That there are ideals that all human beings should strive for, is not to say that an inability to meet these ideals is necessarily immoral.<sup>319</sup>

For McCormick there are conflict situations in which abortion is a morally acceptable option, but only when the conditions outlined above can be adequately satisfied. He rejects the notion that the morality of abortion is "simply a matter of a woman's determination and <sup>320</sup>115

or "that abortion is a purely private affair."<sup>321</sup> He affirms that

<sup>316</sup>Ibid. <sup>317</sup>Ibid., 48. <sup>318</sup>Ibid. <sup>319</sup>Ibid., 49. <sup>320</sup>Idem, "Abortion: A middle Ground," 44. <sup>321</sup>Ibid., 45.

۰.

he cautions that in so far as abortion is a moral issue, which implies an intersubjective character, its pervasiveness has a much more far reaching effect then the two lives most directly involved. He states

> Abortion's pervasiveness represents a horrendous racism of the adult world. When it is justified in terms of rights, all our rights are endangered because their foundations have been eroded by arbitrary and capricious application.<sup>323</sup>

## CONCLUSION

What I have attempted to do throughout these pages is to illustrate several arguments on the topic of the moral character of abortion. In doing so it was my intention to demonstrate that while all assertions are rooted in a conception of what is good or best for human beings, some of these conceptions of human nature are more rationally compelling than others. As a result some moral arguments are more rationally compelling than others and therefore some arguments as to the moral status of abortion are rationally sounder than others.

Michael Tooley contends that the not yet born and the newly born, although human, are not persons who can be said to possess a serious right to life. In addressing Tooley's contentions one might first assert that in so far as one recognizes the potentiality of a human foetus to become a human person one is essentially accepting the human personality of a human foetus. This is true because if I were not already a human being I could never have a potential to become a full or more developed human being.<sup>324</sup> As McCormick argues "human life is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup>The argument from potentiality has been compared to the analogy of an acorn and an oak tree. However this analogy would only be true if one was arguing that an unfertilized egg is a separate and distinct human being. The proper analogy would be to compare a sapling with a fetus in which case one would have to concede that the sapling and the fetus share a potential for maturity, one into an oak tree the other into an adult

continuum from the beginning."<sup>325</sup> He cites Michael J. Walsh who asserts the "essential continuity of a human being from conception to death."<sup>326</sup> It is in this light that McCormick speaks of the notion of "person in becoming." From the moment that life begins to the moment that it ends human beings are in a process of actualizing their personhood. The level of sophistication of this actualization changes as a human being grows but each level is necessary. Becoming persons is a continuous process. McCormick cites the Belgian ministry of health that proclaims that each stage of human life is "the necessary condition for the following and no moment is more important, more decisive, or more essential than another."<sup>327</sup> In other words potential human life as actual human life must be respected in all its stages. We might also keep in mind, as McCormick tells us, that the language of personhood in reference to the moral character of abortion is often a means to cloud the real issue at hand.

Therefore the argument that the foetus lacks human personhood is inappropriate and invalid. What of the claim that the foetus lacks rights? Tooley tells us that rights are the measure of morality in that the ascription of rights is an assertion of an obligation that others have to act or to refrain from acting.<sup>328</sup> Obligations here are conditional on a human being's ability to desire something or have an interest in something. A right to life, then, is conditional on an

person.

<sup>325</sup>McCormick, <u>How Brave A New World?</u>, 139.
<sup>326</sup><u>Ibid.</u>
<sup>327</sup><u>Ibid.</u>, 134.

<sup>328</sup>Tooley, "Abortion and Infanticide," 61.

ability to desire life. Further, an obligation to respect the life of a person is conditional on the ability of that person to demonstrate a desire for life.<sup>329</sup> Rights are grounded in desires and so is obligation. One has no obligation to the not yet born or the newly born because they are incapable of demonstrating a serious desire for life or an interest in it. Abortion is then morally acceptable. From this it is concluded that morality is based on desires. And in so far as morality is based on desires the risk of moral right and wrong shifting to accommodate the desires of the greatest number or the most powerful is very real.

As McCormick so aptly argues the notion of right is correctly understood to be analogous to the source and meaning of moral obligation. But "rights are convenient locutions for the existence of obligations"<sup>330</sup> we have to one another as human beings. The foundation of rights must be grounded in the *ordo bonorum*, or otherwise fall prey to human prejudice. To ascribe a right is to articulate fundamental human goods and their corresponding moral obligations.

We must therefore be very cautious when arguing in favour of or against the morality of abortion in terms of rights. Modern rights are more likely to approximate Tooley's, Thomson's and Overall's understanding than McCormick's, for example, and are unlikely to provide rational protection for the not yet born, newly born, sickly, elderly and mentally challenged. The irony of the use of the modern language of rights is that those who use it are unwittingly laying the

## <sup>329</sup>Ibid.

<sup>330</sup>McCormick, How Brave a New World?, 158.

ground work for it to be used against them, if and when they too become inconvenient to those more powerful and more persuasive than they.<sup>331</sup> Nor is an emotivist understanding of morality, as the one exemplified by Carol Gilligan, more likely to present any reasonable arguments on the issue of abortion. More than arguments based on rights, the emotivist depends on a manipulative persuasiveness, for at least rights based arguments have some foundation in reason, albeit truncated. The most needy of protection are the most vulnerable to moralities based on the arguments of modern rights or emotivism: unsound moral philosophies.

The conception of morality that I espouse is one that recognizes human beings as beings in becoming. Morality here assumes that there is a specific end that is appropriate to human beings toward which they all should strive. It assumes that the attainment of this end requires us to act in a manner that always takes into consideration this end. Morality although personal in its implications and its actualization is also interpersonal in so far as human beings are by nature interactive. Morality here incorporates the belief that the sum of a human being is not quantifiable because of the non quantifiable aspect of our being, that is, the soul. In a sense moral action is reflective of a well ordered soul. And as Plato tells us "the polis is the psyche writ large" or the order of a society depends on the order of the soul of its citizens.

Although passions and desires are a very real dimension of human

113

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup>Rainer Knopff, "Rights, Power-Knowledge, and Social Technology" in <u>George Grant and The Future of Canada</u> ed. Yusuf K. Umar (Calgary, Alberta: University of Calgary Press, 1992), 59-73.

beings it is not the core of human beings. Moral philosophies that fail to recognize that the only means of ordering communities is by encouraging the individuals within said community to get their individual souls and lives in proper order have failed in their purpose. Eric Voegelin tells us that without a *summum bonum* "there is no point of orientation that can endow human action with rationality. Action, then, can only be represented as motivated by passions, above all, by the passion of aggression, the overcoming of one's fellow man."<sup>332</sup>

A society that refuses to regulate such destructive actions as abortion is feeding the decay of the society as a whole and the decay of those individuals living in said society. Communities where education, medical attention and welfare are rights only demonstrate their sickness when they refuse to recognize the dignity of the most defenceless member of that society—the-not-yet born. There are those who claim that abortion pertains to "individual morality" and "poverty and racism" pertain to "social morality."<sup>333</sup> But as has already been suggested and as Bernard Hring argues

> there are always at least two persons concerned besides the foetus: the two who have transmitted life and decide, alone or together, to do away with this life. And to deny that such a decision has a social dimension is tantamount to denying that the human person has a social dimension at all.<sup>334</sup>

It is the responsibility of each individual to act in a manner fitting

<sup>332</sup>Eric Voegelin, <u>Science, Politics and Gnosticism</u> (Washington, D.C.: Regnery Gateway, 1990), 102.

<sup>333</sup>McCormick, <u>How Brave a New World?</u>, 174.

<sup>334</sup>Bernard Hring, <u>Free and Faithful in Christ</u> (New York: Crossroad, 1981), 28.

of their humanness, and this means acting morally right with regards to abortion as much as to theft, deception and murder.

Conclusions as to the moral character of abortion, invariably, produce implications for the appropriate legislation regarding abortion. Although it has not been the aim of this thesis to discuss legislation on abortion I would like to end with the following propositions.

Mary Ann Glendon argues that law serves not only to "organize and coerce" but also to educate. She cites Boyd White who suggests that "law is most usefully seen not...as a system of rules, but as a branch of rhetoric,... as the central art by which community and culture are established, maintained and transformed."335 The types of laws a society has will reflect to some degree the kind of values and goods the society embraces. The purpose of Glendon's inquiry is "to examine the messages about such important matters as life and liberty, individual autonomy and dependency that are being communicated both expressly and implicitly by abortion regulation."336 With liberalized abortion laws we are implicitly saying that nascent human life can be disposed of when it has no immediate calculable worth to us. Dr. F.L. Morton, in a paper given at the 1992 University of Calgary Catholic Lenten Lecture series warns that though a liberal democratic political system is the most politically liberating, without some mechanism to ensure that society will be populated with virtuous or moral citizens we find ourselves living under immoral laws and surrounded by cheats,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup>Mary Ann Glendon, <u>Abortion and Divorce in Western Law</u> (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1987), 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup>Ibid., 15.

liars and crooks. The only way to foster good citizens and a good society is by teaching and practising a sound morality not modern moral substitutes.

:

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

Books:

-----. Oxford English Dictionary

Aquinas, St.Thomas. <u>On Politics and Ethics</u>, trans. and ed. Paul E. Sigmund. New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1988.

- ------. <u>On Law, Morality and Politics</u>, ed. William Baumgarth and Richard Regan. Indianapolis, Indiana: Hackett Publishing Company, 1988.
- ------. <u>Commentary on The Nicomachean Ethics</u>, trans. C.I. Litzingre. Chicago: Henry Regnery Company, 1964.

Arendt, Hannah. <u>Between Past and Future</u>. New York: Penguin Books, 1987. Aristotle. <u>The Nicomachean Ethics</u>, trans. David Ross. Oxford, England:

Oxford University Press, 1988.

-----. <u>The Politics</u>, trans. T.A. Sinclair. Middlesex, England: Penguin Books, 1987.

Berlin, Isaiah. "Two Concepts of Freedom" in Liberalism and its

<u>Critics</u>, ed. Michael Sandel. New York New University Press, 1984. Channer, J.H. ed. <u>Abortion and the Sanctity of Human Life</u>. Exeter,

Devon: The Paternoster Press, 1985.

Copleston, F.C. <u>Aquinas: an introduction to the life and work of the</u> <u>great medieval thinker</u>. London, England: Penguin Books, 1988. -----. <u>A History of Philosophy</u>, Vol.2. New York: An Image Book, Doubleday, 1985.

DeMartino-Swyhart, Barbara Ann. <u>Bioethical Decision Making: releasing</u> religion from the spiritual. Philidelphia: Fortress Press, 1975.

Faux, Marian. <u>Roe V. Wade: The Untold Story of the Landmark Supreme</u> <u>Court Decision that made Abortion Legal</u>.

- Feinberg, Joel. <u>The Problem of Abortion</u>. Belmont, California: Wadsworth Publishing company, Inc., 1973.
- Ferraro, B. & P. Hussey. <u>No Turning Back: Two Nun's Battle with the</u> <u>Vatican over Women's Right to Choose</u>. New York: Poseidon Press, 1990.
- Ficarra, Bernard J. <u>Abortion Analysed</u>. Old Town, Maine: Health Educator Publications, Inc., 1989.
- Fletcher, Joseph. Morals and Medicine. Boston: Beacon Press, 1954.
- Gentles, Ian. <u>A Time To Choose Life: Women, Abortion and Human Rights</u>. Toronto, Ontario: Stoddart Publishing, 1991.

Gilligan, Carol. <u>In A Different Voice</u>. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1982.

Goldman, Alan, H. Moral Knowledge. New York: Routledge, 1988.

Grant, George. <u>English Speaking Justice</u>. Toronto, Ontario: Anansi, 1985.

-----. <u>Technology and Justice</u>. Toronto, Ontario: Anansi, 1986.

Grisez, Germain. <u>Abortion: The Myths, the Realities, and the Arguments</u>. New York: Corpus Books, 1970.

Grisez, Germain, and Russell Shaw. Beyond The New Morality: The

<u>Responsibilities of Freedom</u>, Notre Dame, Indiana: University of Notre Dame Press, 1974. Hauerwas, Stanley. Vision and Virtue. Notre Dame, Indiana:

Fides/Claretian Publishers Inc., 1974.

- Hring, Bernard. <u>Free and Faithful in Christ</u>. New York: Crossroads, 1981.
- Hobbes, Thomas. <u>Leviathan</u>, ed. Michael Oakeshott. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company, 1962.
- Hume, David. <u>Essays Moral, Political, and Literary</u>, ed. Eugene F. Miller. Indianapolis, Indiana: Liberty Classics, 1987.
- ------. <u>A Treatise of Human Nature</u>, ed. Ernest C. Mossner. New York: Penguin Books, 1969.
- Irwin, T.H. <u>Aristotle's First Principles</u>. New York: Oxford University Press, 1990.
- Kenyon, Edwin. The Dilemma of Abortion. London: Faber and Faber, 1986.
- Kremer, E.J. & Synan, E.A. ed. <u>Death Before Birth: Canada and the</u> Abortion <u>Question</u>. Toronto: Griffin House, 1974.
- Knopff, Rainer. "Rights, Power-Knowledge, and Social Technology" in <u>George Grant and The Future of Canada</u>, ed. Yusuf Umar. Calgary, Alberta: University of Calgary Press, 1992: 59-73.
- Locke, John. <u>Two Treatise of Government</u>. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1988.
- MacIntyre, Alasdair. <u>After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theory</u>. Notre Dame, Indiana: University of Notre Dame Press, 1984.

Macpherson, C.B. The Political Theory of Possessive Individualism.

Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1985.

McCormick, Richard A. S.J. <u>Notes on Moral Theology: 1965 Through 1980</u>. Washington, D.C.: University Press of America, 1981.

- ------. <u>How Brave a New World? Dilemmas in Bioethics</u>. Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press, 1981.
- -----. Ambiguity in Moral Choice. Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 1977.

Neustatter, Angela. <u>Mixed Feelings: The Experience of Abortion</u>. London, U.K.: Pluto Press, 1986.

- Noonan, John T. <u>A Private Choice: Abortion in America in the Seventies</u>. New York: The Free Press, 1979.
- O'Donovan, Oliver. <u>Begotten or Made?</u> New York: Oxford University Press, 1984.

O'Leary, Denyse ed. No Easy Answer: The Silent Agony of Crisis

- Pregnancies and Abortion. Burlington, Ontario: Welch Publishing Company Inc., 1988.
- Overall, Christine. <u>Ethics and Human Reproduction: A Feminist Analysis</u>. Boston, Massachusetts: Allen and Unwin. 1987.
- Sacred Congregation for the Doctrine of the Faith. <u>Vatican Declaration</u> on Abortion. Saskatchewan: Marian Press, 1982.

St.John-Stevas, Norman. <u>The Agonizing Choice: Birth Control, Religion</u> and the Law. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1971.

Simon, Yves R. <u>The Definition of Moral Virtue</u>. New York: Fordham University Press 1986.

- Stevenson, Leslie. <u>Seven Theories of Human Nature</u>. New York: Oxford University Press, 1974.
- Taylor, Charles. <u>The Malaise of Modernity</u>. Concord, Ontario: House of Anansi Press, 1991.
- Tooley, Michael. <u>Abortion and Infanticide</u>. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1983.
- Tribe, Laurence H. <u>Abortion: The Clash of Absolutes</u>. New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 1990.
- Van Der Breggen, Hank. <u>An Enquiry Concerning Human Abortion</u>. Burlington, Ontario: Crown Publications, 1988.
- Wennberg, Robert. <u>Life In The Balance: Exploring The Abortion</u> <u>Controversy</u>. Grand Rapids, Michigan: William B. Eerdmans Publishing Company, 1985.
- Wojtyla, Karol. <u>The Acting Person</u>. Dordrecht: D. Reidel Publishing Company, 1979.
- Woznicki, Andrew N. <u>Karol Wojtyla's Existential Personalism</u>. New Britain, Ct.: Mariel Publications, 1980.
- Xenophon, <u>The Works of Xenophon</u>, trans. H.G. Dakyns. London: Macmillan and Co., Limited, 1897.

Journals:

. .

;

Brody, B.A. "Abortion and The Sanctity of Human life." <u>American</u> <u>Philosophical Quarterly</u> vol.10 #2 (April 1973): 133-140.

-----. "Thomson on Abortion." <u>Philosophy and Public Affairs</u> vol.1 #3 (1972): 335-40.

- Callahan, Daniel. "Abortion: thinking and experiencing." <u>Christianity</u> <u>and Crisis</u>, vol.32 (1972): 285-298.
- Cessario, Romantus. "The meaning of Virtue in the Christian Moral Life: Its Significance for Human life issues." <u>The Thomist</u> vol. 53 (1989): 173-96.
- Connery, John R. S.J. "Abortion and the Duty to Preserve Life." <u>Theological Studies</u>, vol. 40 #2 (June 1979): 318-333.
- Diamond, James J. M.D. "Abortion, Animation, and Biological Hominization." <u>Theological Studies</u>, vol. 36 #2 (June 1975): 305-325.
- Finnis, John. "The Rights and Wrongs of Abortion: A Reply to Judith Thomson." <u>Philosophy and Public Affairs</u> vol.2 (1972-73): 117-145.
- Fortin, Ernest. "Natural Law and Social Justice." <u>The American Journal</u> of Jurisprudence vol. 30 (1985): 1-20.
- Goldstein, Leslie F. "Examining abortion Funding Policy Arguments: An Attempt to Recast the Debate." <u>Women and Politics</u> vol. 5(2/3) (Summer/Fall 1985): 41-63.
- Grisez, Germain, Joseph Boyle, and John Finnis. "Practical Principles, Moral Truth, and Ultimate Ends." <u>The American Journal of</u> Jurisprudence, vol. 32 (1987): 99-151.

Hellegers, Andre E. "Fetal Development." <u>Theological Studies</u> vol.31 #1 (March 1970): 3-9.

Kaveny, Cathleen M. "Toward A Thomistic Perspective on Abortion and the Law in Contemporary America." <u>The Thomist</u> vol. 55 (July 1991): 343-396.

McCormick, Richard A. S.J. "Moral Considerations' Ill Considered." <u>America</u>, vol. 166 #9 (March 14, 1992): 210-214.

\_\_\_\_\_. "Who or What is the Preembryo." <u>Kennedy Institute of Ethics</u> <u>Journal</u> (March 1991): 1-15.

------. "Abortion: A Middle Ground?" <u>Second Opinion</u> vol. 10 (March 1989): 41-50.

-----. "Medicaid and Abortion." <u>Theological Studies</u> vol. 45 #4 (December 1984): 715-721.

------. "Notes on Moral Theology: The Abortion Dossier." <u>Theological</u> <u>Studies</u> vol. 35 #2 (June 1974): 312-359.

Noonan, John. "Raw Judicial Power." <u>National Review</u> vol. 25 (1973): 260-4.

Somfai, Bela. "A Law Against Abortion is Not Enough." <u>Compass</u> (May 1988): 31-34.

Tauer, Carol A. "The Tradition of Probabilism and the Moral Status of the Early Embryo." <u>Theological Studies</u> vol 45 #1 (March 1984): 3-33.

Thompson, Judith Jarvis. "Rights and Deaths." <u>Philosophy and Public</u> <u>Affairs</u> vol. 2 (1972-3): 146-59.

.

.

-----. "A Defense of Abortion." <u>Philosophy and Public Affairs</u> vol.1 (1971): 47-66. Tooley, Michael. "Abortion and Infanticide." <u>Philosophy and Public</u> <u>Affairs</u> vol.2 (1972-3): 37-65.

Vacek, Edward V. S.J. "Vatican Instruction on Reproductive Technology." <u>Theological Studies</u> vol. 49 #1 (March 1988): 110-131.

Wertheimer, Roger. "Understanding Abortion," Philosophy and Public

<u>Affairs</u> vol. 1 (1971): 67-95.

•